Remediation of metal ions in aqueous solution using activated carbon from Zea may stem

Matandabuzo MZUKISI

Department of Chemistry

Faculty of Science and Agriculture



January 2016

Remediation of metal ions in aqueous solution using activated carbon from Zea may stem

By

Matandabuzo MZUKISI (201102416) B. Sc., B. Sc. (Honours) Chemistry (UFH)

Being a dissertation submitted to the Faculty of Science and Agriculture in fulfilment of the requirements for the award of the degree of

Master of Science in chemistry

Of the

University of Fort Hare,

Supervisor: Professor P. A. Ajibade

January 2016

DECLARATION BY CANDIDATE ON PLAGIARISM

I Mzukisi Matandabuzo, declare that:

- 1. The research in this dissertation, except where otherwise indicated, is my original research.
- This dissertation has not been submitted for any degree or examination at other university.
- 3. This dissertation does not contain any other person data unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from them.
- 4. This dissertation does not contain any other persons' writing, unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other researchers. Where other written sources have been quoted, then:
 - a. Their words have been re-written but the general information attributed to them has been properly referenced.
 - b. In all instances where the exact words of other authors have been used, then their writing has been placed in italics and inside a quotation marks, and referenced.
- 5. This dissertation does not contain text or graphics from the internet copied and pasted, unless specifically acknowledged, and the source being detailed in the dissertation and in the references section.

Matandabuzo Mzukisi

Date

CERTIFICATION

This is to certify that this research is a record of original work carried out by Mzukisi Matandabuzo under my supervision in the Inorganic Materials Research laboratory of the Department of Chemistry, University of Fort Hare in fulfilments of the requirements for the award of Master of Science degree in Chemistry.

Date

Supervisor

P. A. AjibadeProfessor of Inorganic Materials ChemistryB. Sc (Hons), MSc (Ibadan);PhD (UniZul); MRSC (London)

DEDICATION

With great joy, happiness, and appreciation, I would like to dedicate this work to my entire family for their encouragement and support towards my studies. My Father, Mr. S. Matandabuzo, Mom, Mrs. N. Matandabuzo for their unwavering love and support throughout. To everyone who has been so supportive and has shown interest in my work, more especially my Pastor (J. V. Zoko).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

First and Foremost I would to thank God Almighty for the gift of life and the delightful opportunity He has given unto me to carry on with my studies. Indeed, He is God who knows the End at the Beginning.

I will endlessly be indebted to my supervisor Professor P. A. Ajibade for his guidance, encouragement, and valuable support throughout this work. He has managed to find time within his busiest schedule and provided healthy discussions and supervision in my studies.

Grateful acknowledgement is also presented to my friends, colleagues, and relatives for their valuable support and prayers that they have offered for me during the time I was busy with this work. My very closest friend, Ms. N. Tshazi for her continuous and valuable support she has given me in the course of this work when I felt tired and exhausted. Special thanks to the Inorganic Materials Research group for their valuable discussions and encouragements, stuff and colleagues of the Department of Chemistry.

I would like also to appreciate NRF and Sasol Inzalo Foundation for the award of Innovation Masters Scholarship towards this work. Mr. K. Tshapu, Mr. T. Mcako, and Ms. Elizabeth for their assistance with the instrumental analysis.

ABREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

- AC Activated carbon
- PAC Prepared activated carbon
- FT-IR Fourier Transform Infrared spectroscopy
- SEM Scanning Electron Microscopy
- EDS Energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy
- XRD X-ray Diffraction
- AAS Atomic absorption spectrometry
- PC Pin (Pinus contorta) cones
- AS *Abies cilicica* seeds
- MS Maple (Acer ginnala) seeds
- PS Peach (Prunus perdica) stones

ABSTRACT

Zea mays stem and its activated carbon were prepared through chemical activation method using four different activating reagents (NaOH, H₃PO₄, H₂SO₄, KOH) and were used as adsorbents for the removal of Pb(II), Cu(II), Hg(II) and Cr(III) from aqueous solution. The results shows that activated carbon has high surface area and pore volume compared to the powdered raw Zea mays stem. Prepared activated carbon was characterized using physico-chemical properties such as carbon yield, iodine number, moisture content, percentage adsorption, and analytical instruments such as Fourier transform Infrared spectroscopy (FTIR), atomic absorption spectrometer (AAS), scanning electron microscopy (SEM), Energy Dispersive X-ray analysis (EDS), powder X-ray Diffraction (pXRD). The adsorption of Pb(II), Cu(II), and Cr(III) ions were pH, contact time, and concentration dependent. Based on the results obtained from the batch experiments, activated carbon prepared from Zea mays stem is not good enough for the removal of Hg(II) from aqueous solution. Adsorption ability was calculated and found to be 66.67% for activated carbon obtained from H₂SO₄, 21.21% for activated carbon obtained from KOH, and 20% for activated carbons obtained from NaOH and H₃PO₄. The pH 5-6 was chosen for all experiments, contact time was 2 hours, and adsorbent dosage was 2 g, initial concentration range from 200, 400, 600, 800, and 1000 ppm at room temperature. The metal ion removal trend was found in the order Pb(II)>Cu(II)>Cr(III)>>Hg(II). The Langmuir model fitted well in most of the cases with $R^2 > 0.99$. Consequently, the adsorption of Pb(II) and Cu(II) followed Langmuir isotherm model while that of Cr(III) best fitted the Freundlich isotherm model. The results indicated that the adsorption process followed two possible mechanisms. (I) Metal ion – adsorbent complex model and (II) Metal ion - ion-exchange adsorbent complex model.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION BY CANDIDATE ON PLAGIARISMii
CERTIFICATIONiii
DEDICATIONiv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTv
ABREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLSvi
ABSTRACTvii
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF FIGURESxi
LIST OF TABLESxiii
CHAPTER ONE1
INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW1
1. Water as natural resource1
1.3 Water pollution2
1.3 Treatment of polluted water3
1.3.1 Conventional methods3
1.3.2 Bioremediation method4
1.4 Literature review5
1.4.1 Biosorption studies5
1.4. 2 Activated carbon (AC)6
1. 4. 3 Zea mays stem12
1. 4. 4 Adsorption kinetics16
1.5 Rationale and Motivation17
1.6 Research statement18
1.7 Aims and objectives of this project19
1.8 References
CHAPTER TWO31
2. EXPERIMENTAL
2.1 Chemicals and Reagents
2.2 Physical measurements32
2.2.1 Fourier Transform- Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR)32
2.2.2 Scanning electron microscopy with Energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (SEM/EDS)32

2.2.3 Powder X-ray diffraction (pXRD)	32
2.2.4 Atomic absorption spectrometry (AAS)	33
2.3 Preparation of activated carbon from <i>Zea mays</i> stem	33
2.3.1 Preparation of activated carbon from phosphoric acid	33
2.3.2 Preparation of activated carbon from sulphuric acid	35
2.3.3 Preparation of activated carbon from sodium hydroxide	36
2.3.4 Preparation of activated carbon from potassium hydroxide	36
2.4 Preparation of metal ion solutions	38
2.5 Adsorption experiments	38
2.5.1 Effect of pH	39
2.5.2 The effect of contact time	39
2.5.3 The stirring rate	39
2.5.4 The effect of concentration	39
2.5.5 The effect of biosorbent and adsorbent dosage	40
2.6 Determination of metal ion concentration, Percentage removal, and Sorption capacity	40
2.7 Physicochemical Characteristics	41
2.7.1 Activated carbon yield (%) determination	41
2.7.2 Adsorption capacity (%) using ammonia adsorption	41
2.7.3 Iodine adsorption number method	42
2. 8 References	43
CHAPTER THREE	45
3. RESULTS AND DISCUSIONS	45
3.1 Introduction	45
3.2 Characterization of the prepared activated carbon	46
3.2.1 FTIR spectra studies of the activated carbon	46
3.2.2 Morphology of the activated carbon	47
3.3 Physico-chemical characteristics of the activated carbon	55
3.4 Adsorption experiments	57
3.4.1 Effect of pH on adsorption of metal ions	57
3.4.2 Effect of contact time on metal ion removal	59
3.4.3 The effect of adsorbent dosage	63
3.4.4 Effect of initial concentration on the uptake of metal ions	63
3.4.5 Effect of shaking speed on adsorption of metal ions	67

3.5 Adsorption kinetics	68
3.5.1 Langmuir and Freundlich isotherms	68
3.6 Characterization of the activated carbon after adsorption	84
3.6.1 Characterization of activated carbon after adsorption	84
3.7 References	98
CHAPTER FOUR	102
4. SUMMARY, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER STUDIES.	102
4.1 Summary of results	102
4.2 Conclusion	104
4.3 Recommendations for further studies	104

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Effluent discharged from metal industry	2
Figure 1.2: Reverse Osmosis Principle	4
Figure 1.3: Activated carbon with high degree of porosity	8
Figure 1.4: Zea mays plant from Fort Hare research farm	14
Figure 2.1: The impregnation mixture of Zea mays stem with H_2SO_4 (A) and H_3PO_4 (B)	34
Figure 2.2: Activated carbon synthesized from phosphoric acid	35
Figure 2.3: Activated carbon obtained from sulphuric acid	36
Figure 2.4: Impregnation mixture of <i>Zea mays</i> stem with NaOH (E), KOH (F) and res activated carbon from NaOH (G) and KOH (H).	ulted
Figure 3.1: FT-IR spectrum for Zea mays stem	46
Figure 3.2: FT-IR spectra of activated carbons prepared from acids and bases	46
Figure 3.3: SEM images of activated carbon prepared with H ₃ PO ₄ before adsorption	48
Figure 3.4: EDS spectrum of activated carbon prepared with H ₃ PO ₄ before adsorption	49
Figure 3.5: SEM images of activated carbon prepared with H ₂ SO ₄ before adsorption	50
Figure 3.6: EDS spectrum of activated carbon prepared with H ₂ SO ₄ before adsorption	51
Figure 3.7: SEM images of activated carbon prepared with NaOH before adsorption	52
Figure 3.8: EDS spectrum of activated carbon prepared with NaOH before adsorption	53
Figure 3.9: SEM images of activated carbon prepared with KOH before adsorption	54
Figure 3.10: EDS spectrum of activated carbon prepared with KOH before adsorption	55
Figure 3.11: Effect of pH on removal metal ions by activated carbon from Zea mays stem	59
Figure 3.12: Effect of contact time on removal of metal ions by activated carbon	60
Figure 3.13: Effect of initial concentration on metal ion removal	64
Figure 3.14: Langmuir isotherm curve for the adsorption Pb(II) by activated carbons	69
Figure 3.15: Langmuir model Plot of $\frac{1}{q_e}$ vs $\frac{1}{c_e}$ for the adsorption of Pb(II)	71
Figure 3.16: Freundlich model plot log_{qe} vs log_{Ce} for the adsorption of Pb(II)	73
Figure 3.17: Langmuir isotherm curve for the adsorption of Cu(II)	75

Figure 3.18: Langmuir model plot $\frac{1}{c_e}$ vs $\frac{1}{q_e}$ for the adsorption of Cu(II)	76
Figure 3.19: Freundlich isotherm curve for the adsorption of Cu(II)	78
Figure 3.20: Langmuir isotherm curve for the adsorption of Cr(III)	79
Figure 3.21: Langmuir model plot $\frac{1}{c_e}$ vs $\frac{1}{q_e}$ for the adsorption of Cr(III)	80
Figure 3.22: Freundlich isotherm curve for the adsorption of Cr(III)	81
Figure 3.23: FT-IR spectra for activated carbon after adsorption of metal ions	83
Figure 3.24: SEM images for activated carbon after adsorption of Pb(II) and Cu(II)	85
Figure 3.25: SEM images for activated carbon after adsorption of Hg(II) and Cr(III)	86
Figure 3.26: SEM images for Zea mays stem after biosorption of Pb(II)	87
Figure 3.27: EDS spectrum for activated carbon after adsorption of Pb(II)	89
Figure 3.28: EDS spectrum of the activated carbon after adsorption of Cu(II)	90
Figure 3.29: EDS spectrum of the activated carbon after adsorption of Cr(III)	91
Figure 3.30: EDS spectrum of the activated carbon after adsorption of Hg(II)	92
Figure 3.31: EDS spectrum for Zea mays stem after biosorption of Pb(II)	93
Figure 3.32(a): XRD patterns for <i>Zea mays</i> stem and prepared activated carbon	95
Figure 3.32(b): XRD pattern for activated carbon after adsorption	96

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: Effect of pH on adsorption of metal ions.	58
Table 3.2 (a): Effect of contact time on removal of Pb(II)	61
Table 3.2 (b): Effect of contact time on removal of Cu(II).	61
Table 3.2 (c): Effect of contact time on removal of Cr(III).	62
Table 3.3 (a): Effect of initial concentration on removal of Pb(II)	65
Table 3.3 (b): Effect of initial concentration on removal of Cu(II).	65
Table 3.3 (c): Effect of initial concentration on removal of Cr(III).	66
Table 3.4: Effect of shaking speed on metal ions adsorption	67
Table 3.5: Langmuir isotherm values for the adsorption of Pb(II)	68
Table 3.6: Langmuir model values to plot $\frac{1}{q_e}$ vs $\frac{1}{c_e}$ for the adsorption of Pb(II)	70
Table 3.7: Freundlich model values to plot log_{qe} vs log_{Ce} for the adsorption of Pb(II)	72
Table 3.8: Langmuir isotherm values for the adsorption of Cu(II)	74
Table 3.9: Langmuir model values to plot $\frac{1}{q_{\varepsilon}}$ vs $\frac{1}{c_{\varepsilon}}$ for the adsorption of Cu(II)	76
Table 3.10: Freundlich isotherm values for the adsorption of Cu(II).	77
Table 3.11: Langmuir isotherm values for the adsorption of Cr(III)	79
Table 3.12: Langmuir model values to plot $\frac{1}{c_e}$ vs $\frac{1}{q_e}$ for the adsorption of Cr(III)	80
Table 3.13: Freundlich isotherm values for the adsorption of Cr(III)	81
Table 3.14: Langmuir and Freundlich isotherm experimental constants	82

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

1. Water as natural resource

Water is essential natural resource and without water, life would not have evolved on earth. Water exists naturally on earth in three physical states or forms namely liquid, solid, and gaseous [1]. Pure and adequate water is colourless, odourless, and tasteless. Groundwater and rivers are the main sources of water supply for human use in the entire world. It is used for cooking, drinking, cleaning, industrial and agricultural purposes [1]. However, water supports all living organisms above and below the earth's surface, although it is also exposed to numerous sources of pollution. As the world's population is rapidly increasing, so also the demand for clean, safe, and drinkable (non-contaminated) water is exponentially increasing. Due to the scarcity of clean and fresh potable water, over one billion people worldwide have inadequate water supply [2].

Though water covers almost two-thirds of the earth's surface, it is still the most scarce and in demand resource on earth. Environmental studies has shown that less than 1% of water on the planet is available for drinking and agricultural use. While 97% is salty water stored in oceans and only 3% is free water. Out the 3% that is free, only 0.3% is contained in surface water bodies such as dams, lakes and rivers [2]. The remaining 2.7% of free water is confined between rocks beneath the earth's surface. Most of available water on earth is not fit for human consumption because it is contaminated by indiscriminate discharges or effluents from industrial and agricultural activities.



Figure 1.1: Photograph showing the effluent discharged from metal industry Source: Nadeem *et al.*, 2006 [3]

1.3 Water pollution

Water pollution can be defined as the release of pollutants and other materials that can degrade the quality of water. In other words, anything that is released to the water bodies, above and beyond its capacity to break it down, is pollution [2 - 5]. Water pollutants are those materials that cannot be broken down by water into less harmful substances such as pesticides, industrial discharge (metal ions), and oil spillage. Most of these water pollutants are very toxic in human and aquatic life through food cycle. For example, lead, mercury, cadmium, and chromium metal ions are at the top of the toxicity list (Volesky, 1994).

According to Safe Drinking Water Foundation (SDWF), there are two major sources of water pollution namely point source and non-point source [6]. Point sources include factories, wastewater treatment facilities, and septic systems. Whereas non-point sources are fairly difficult to identify as they cannot be traced back to a particular location or site. These generally includes surface runoff fertilizers, chemicals, animal waste from the farms, construction sites and mines [7]. As indicated above metal ions contained in discharged effluents from these water-pollution sources are very harmful and some can cause kidney failure, decrease mental capabilities, abdominal cramps, anaemia, and severe headaches [USEPA, 2004].

1.3 Treatment of polluted water

1.3.1 Conventional methods

A wide range of physicochemical methods have been widely employed to remediate or cleanup metal ions from industrial wastewater. Examples of these conventional methods are chemical precipitation, chemical coagulation, reverse osmosis (Figure 1.2), ion-exchange, electrochemical methods, adsorption using activated carbon, membrane process and ultrafiltration [8, 9]. These conventional methods have several limitations in their use as remediation methods for cleaning-up wastewater. They are usually expensive to operate, have high chemical requirements, not efficient in concentrations lower than 50 mg/L, and large amount of sludge containing metals [10].



Figure 1.2: Diagram showing the Reverse Osmosis Principle source: Nadia et al., 2009 [9].

Due to the above mentioned demerits, the industrial applications of these conventional methods has gradually reduced.

1.3.2 Bioremediation method

Recently, the use of biological methods such bioremediation and bioaccumulation provides a promising alternative in solving this worldwide water problem. Phytoremediation is the use of plants to partially remediate selected contaminants in contaminated soil, groundwater, surface water, and wastewater [10, 11]. Bioremediation has low operating cost, efficient at lower levels of concentration, eco-friendly, and low chemical requirements as compared to conventional methods [12]. The efficiency and effectiveness of the biosorbent ultimately rest upon the biochemical composition, particularly on the functional groups present in a cell wall polysaccharides [12]. Therefore, the choice of choosing the biosorbent plays a very important role with respect to the economic viability of the process. Abundance of biomaterial, stability

and cost are generally considered to be the most important parameters for the selection and consideration of biosorbents. The by-products obtained from biomaterials production are cheaper and their reactions are reversible. Many biological biosorbents such as rice hulls, corn cobs, coconut fiber, soya beans hulls, peat and others has been successfully used for effective metal ion removal [12, 13]. There are three mechanisms by which microorganisms remove metal ions from wastewater: these are bioremediation of metal ions on the cell surface, intracellular uptake of the metal ions, and finally the chemical transformation of metal ions by microorganism. Bioremediation has been declared to be largely effective than the bioaccumulation and phytoremediation [13 -15].

1.4 Literature review

1.4.1 Biosorption studies

Biosorption is the process in which agricultural biomass is employed to remediate metal ions from aqueous solution through the contact of the biosorbent and the solution containing the metal ions [14-15]. A significant number of biosorption studies on the removal of metal ions from aqueous solution have been conducted worldwide and all of them has been focusing on obtaining highest removal efficiency, though carried out using large quantities of agricultural waste or by product [16, 17].

The suitability of the green algae (*phornidium sp*), mango leaves and orange peels for the removal of Pb(II) and Cd(II) ions from aqueous solution in both bath and continuous process has been investigated [18]. Maranon and Sastre [19] investigated the ability of apple wastes in removal of metal ions in packed beds [19]. Senthikumaar *et al.* [20] studied the ability of bio-waste obtained from fruit juice industry for the removal of metal ions such as Hg(II),

Pb(II), Cd(II), Cu(II), Zn(II), and Ni(II). The results obtained from these studies conclude that bio-waste from fruit juice industry can be successfully used as potential biosorbents for the removal of metal ions and the order of metal ion removal by fruit residue was Cu(II)>Pb(II)>Ni(II)>Zn(II)>Hg(II) = Cd(II) [20]. Sobhanardakani *et al.* [21] studied the performance of rice husk on the removal of Cr(III) and Cu(II) ions from aqueous solution and evaluated the effect of various factors such as pH, initial concentration, reaction time and adsorbents doses. The results obtained indicated maximum removal of Cr(II) and Cu(II) occurred at pH around 5-6 by rice husk [21].

Biosorption characteristics of dried sugar beet pulp for the removal of Cu(II) metal ion from aqueous was reported [22]. Saeed *et al.* [23] studied the removal and recovery of Pb(II) from single and multi-metal (Cd, Cu, Ni, and Zn) solutions by crop milling waste (black gram husk) [23]. In this study, the removal ability order of the biosorbent was Pb>Cd>Zn>Cu>Ni.

Wang and Qin studied the possibility of using rice bran for sorption of Cu(II) ions from wastewater [24]. There are many other different agricultural waste materials that has been utilized as biosorbents in the literature. Some of them are wood, peat, pine bark, banana core, soybean, rice bran, saw dust, wool, orange peel and cotton hulls [25-28]. The most important benefit of these agricultural waste material biosorbents is that they are cheap, inexhaustible, harmless, and renewable materials.

1.4. 2 Activated carbon (AC)

The use of activated carbon to remove metal ions from aqueous solution has received significant attention in recent years [29]. Activated carbon is a porous material with an

extremely large surface and intrinsic adsorption to many adsorbents [30, 31]. Reports in literature relating to the preparation of activated carbon from agricultural wastes such black gram husk, maize cob husk, apricot stone and peanut husks being applied to remove metal ions from wastewater [31].

Awoyale *et al.* [32] in their study showed that the adsorptive capacity of activated carbon from bamboo is comparable to the adsorption of capacities activated carbon from cocoa pod husk [32]. Activated carbon has been reported to have high and fast adsorption capacities due to its well-developed porous structure and surface area [33]. Gang and Wiexing [34], reported that activated carbon is only able to remove around 30-40 mg/g of Cd, Zn, and Cr in water and is non-regenarateable which is quiet costly for wastewater treatment [34].

The metal ions from the effluent are being attracted to or held on the surface of the carbon particles [35]. The efficiency of adsorption using activated carbon is influenced by the characteristics of the carbon material such as particle size, pore size, surface area, surface chemistry and hardness [35]. The most common method used with activated carbon is known as activated carbon filtration, which is based on the adsorption of the contaminants onto the surface of the filter. But this method is not effective for microbial contaminants, metal ions, and other inorganic contaminants [35]. Activated carbon is prepared in such a way that it exhibits a high degree of porosity and extended surface area as shown in Figure 1.3.



Figure 1.3: Activated carbon with high degree of porosity source: Lamley et al., 2011 [36]

The adsorption capacity usually depends upon the properties on the activated carbon such as temperature, pH, ion strength, and adsorbate chemical properties [37]. Mustapha *et al.* [38] reported that activated carbon spines of *Bombax buonopozense* have been found to be economically viable and potential biosorbent for the removal of Cu(II) and Zn(II) metal ions [38]. The uptake of these metals was described by Dubinin-Radushkevick (D-R) [38]. The investigation conducted by Senthil *et al.* [39] indicates that nano-silversol-coated activated carbon (NSSCAC) is an effective adsorbent for the remediation of lead(II) from aqueous solution [39]. Maximum adsorption efficiency of 92.4% was obtained from the initial concentration of metal ion. The experimental results were in good agreement with both the

Langmuir and Freundlich adsorption isotherms. Ntuli *et al.* [40] studied the use of agroforestry waste in order to reduce environmental problems associated with it by using such waste in the production of activated carbons (A.Cs) using low-cost production technique, which effectively produce more reliable activated carbon as adsorbent for the treatment of effluent from wastewater [40]. Four different activated carbons from agroforestry materials-pin (*Pinus contorta*) cones (PC), abies (*Abies cilicica*) seeds (AS), maple (*Acer ginnala*) seeds (MS), and peach (*Prunus persica*) stones (PS). The four different activated carbon were prepared by single-step stem pyrolysis and were all characterized. Evaluation of the activated carbons was based on the iodine number, phenol specific area, ash content, pH, moisture content, and specific metal ion removal [40].

Sivakumar *et al.* [41] compared the effectiveness of activated carbon from *Balsamodendron caudatum* wood waste through various processes such as H_2SO_4 impregnation, H_3PO_4 , and CaCO₃ impregnation. According to Sivakumar *et al.* [41] activated carbon prepared from *Balsamodendron caudatum* showed excellent improvement in surface characteristics and the volume of pores varies based on the type of the activating agent used. They concluded that the activated carbon prepared from *Balsamodendron caudatum* wood waste using H_2SO_4 impregnation produced activated carbon with high surface area and more developed pore spaces than others [41].

Pragya *et al.* [42] developed a modified method to produce activated carbon from almond shell and compare its physical and morphological characteristics with the activated carbon prepared from walnut shell using ortho-phosphoric acid impregnation. Based on the results from the SEM, FTIR, and the dye adsorption capacity for each activated carbon, the activated carbon obtained from almond shell indicates heterogeneous carbonaceous structure compared to walnut shell based activated carbon. Methylene blue adsorption capacity of walnut shell activated carbon was 51% less compared to those obtained from almond shell [42]. Akpa and Nmegbu investigated the use of activated carbon prepared from three carbon rich agricultural materials; bamboo, coconut, and palm kernel shells for the adsorption of benzene. Benzene adsorption was proven to be minimal with activated carbon produced from bamboo as compared to the ones from coconut and palm kernel shells [43]. The percentage yield for activated carbon from coconut shell was high in comparism to bamboo (50%), palm shell (50.0%), and coconut shell (51%), respectively [43].

Yusufu *et al.* [44] indicated that efficient activated carbons can be obtained from bone, wood, and coconut shell by a controlled activation with phosphoric acid or heat for a number of industrial and residential applications. Surface areas for acid activated carbons were higher and this is always expected because chemical activation normally develops more pore spaces and high surface areas in carbon materials when compared with thermal activation [44].

Gumus and Okpeku [45] prepared activated carbon from snail shells by using ZnCl₂ and CaCl₂ salts as chemical reagent. Physico-chemical characteristics such pH, ash content, pore volume, porosity, and bulk density were conducted in order to determine the surface area and the effectiveness of the activated carbon produced. Physical and chemical properties shows that activated carbon prepared using ZnCl₂ activation was better than the one prepared from CaCl₂ [45].

Kumar *et al.* [46] prepared activated carbon from *Vitex negundo* stem waste using ZnCl₂, H₃PO₄, H₂SO₄, and KOH and the produced activated carbons were used to remove metal

ions from aqueous solution. The adsorption results showed out that the activated carbon prepared from *Vitex negundo* stem by H_2SO_4 chemical activation was the best in removing metal ions [46]. Sugumaran *et al.* [47] reported the preparation of the activated carbon from banana empty fruit bunches (BEFP) and *Delonix regia* fruit pods (DRFP) by one step pyrolysis using H_3PO_4 and KOH as chemical activation reagents. Highest yield of 41.09% was in DRFP chemical treated with H_3PO_4 was recorded. Physicochemical characteristics studies are very important in assessing or determining the suitability and effectiveness of each active carbon prepared from various agricultural waste materials [48-51]. Based on literature report, surface area and pore volume are the most significant parameters to be fully considered in the preparation of activated carbon for adsorption applications [51, 52].

SEM images and IR results are among the most important characterization techniques used for preparation of activated carbon, they usually reveal the morphological structures for the active sites and functional groups present [53]. The preparation of activated carbon from melon seed husk by chemical activation using NaOH solution was reported by Madu and Lajide [54]. The work done by the two showed that powdered activated carbon from melon seed husk has good adsorptive capacity and can be used for both liquid and gaseous phase adsorption [54]. Bernard *et al.* [55] reported the removal of metal ions from industrial wastewater by zinc chloride treated activated carbon prepared from coconut shells. The effect of pH, contact time, stirring rate, and adsorbent dosage were carefully considered on adsorption of Cu(II), Fe(II), Zn(II), and Pb(II) from wastewater and the results obtained from literature concluded that the adsorption of metal ions was completely adsorbent dosage, pH, contact time, and stirring rate dependent [55,-60]. The pH, stirring speed, and adsorbent dosage were 6, 350 rpm, and 1 g respectively. Activated carbon prepared from oil palm and coconut shells using sulphuric acid and phosphoric acid has shown significant high adsorption capacity in removing metal cations such as Ni(II) with 19.6 mg/g and Pb(II) with 74.6 mg/g removal respectively [58]. Rahman *et al.* [58] concluded that acid-treated activated carbons usually perform better in low concentration range. Raji *et al.* [59] reported the use of bicarbonate treated sawdust carbon in adsorbing metal ions such as Pb(II), Hg(II), and Cd(II) from aqueous solutions [59]. Maximum uptake were 98.6% for Pb(II), 97.2% for Hg(II), and 95.1% for Cd(II) at very low metal ion initial concentrations. Most of the activated carbon derived from agricultural waste materials by chemical treatment were experimentally found to be in agreement with Langmuir model, although some usually agreed with Freundlich model depending on the adsorptive behaviour of the metal ions and parameters such as pH, contact time, adsorbent dosage, and stirring rate [56-60].

1.4.3 Zea mays stem

Zea mays straw and corn cobs has been successfully utilized as potential biosorbents for the removal of Hg(II) and Cd(II) from aqueous solutions [61, 62]. Nadia *et al.* [62] reported a maximum uptake of about 89.9% for Hg(II) and 92% for Cd(II) around pH values of 9-10 using maize waste as biosorbent [62]. Igwe and Abia [63] reported the sorption kinetics and intraparticulate diffusivities of Cd, Pb, and Zn ions on maize cob [63]. Again, Igwe *et al.* [64] also reported sorption kinetics and intraparticulate diffusivities and intraparticulate diffusivities of Cd, Pb, and Zn ions of Co, Fe, and Cu ions of EDTA-modified maize cob [64]. Competitive adsorption of Zn(II), Cd(II), and Pb(II) ions from aqueous and non-aqueous solution by maize cob and husk was reported [65].

Maize, that is, *Zea mays* from Spanish language, known as corn in some English-speaking countries, is a large grain plant domesticated by indigenous peoples in Mesoamerica [67]. It is one of the most sensitive plant to drought, hence it is usually cultivated during summer and spring seasons in the temperate regions of the world. It consists of leafy stalk which produces ears containing grain. The maize plant is usually about 2.4 to 2.5 m long with the stem having the appearance of a bamboo cane. Figure 1.4 shows the height of *Zea mays* plant taken from Fort Hare research farm in Alice.



Figure 1.4: Zea mays plant taken from Fort Hare research farm

The maize leaf usually begins (extends) from each node as shown in Figure 1.4. The longest *Zea mays* stem is usually composed of intercones of approximately 12 to 18 cm long. The

intercones and the structure of the *Zea mays* stem is similar to that of the sugarcane. Hence, in some local areas they use it for fruit consumption. Because of its shallow roots, maize is susceptible to droughts, intolerant of nutrient-deficient soils. It's also prone to being uprooted by severe winds. Immature maize shoots accumulate a powerful antibiotic substance, 2, 4-dihydroxy-7-methoxy-7, hethoxy-1, 4-benzoxazin-3-1-(DIMBOA)[47]. DIMBOA is a member of a group of hydroxamic acids (also known as *benzoxazinoids*) that serve as a natural defence against a wide range of pests, including insects, pathogenic fungi and bacteria [68]. *Zea mays* is widely cultivated all over the world for various purposes, mainly for food consumption [68].

Hence, a great quantity of maize is produced each year than any other popular grains such as wheat, rice, and soybean. Recently studies has revealed that United State of America is the leading producer of *Zea mays* followed by China, and South Africa is the tenth largest producer of maize [69]. Approximately 99% of *Zea mays* is used for food purposes throughout the world [70, 71]. The only commercially important part of the maize is the corn, which is used by many for food purposes after being harvested. Recently, maize has been getting attention to be used in bio-fuel and in some chemical preparations. It is used in production of ethanol fuel to be mixed with gasoline in order to decrease the amount of pollutants emitted from motor vehicles.

The use of maize to produce ethanol has led to high demand for maize production throughout the world. The entire part of the maize (stem and leaves) is usually thrown away as a waste by-product because of lack of usage and importance. Because of its high production advantage, maize has been successful utilized as the plant candidates for trace-element phytoextraction and/or phytoremediation in soils contaminated by toxic metals. It is the fastest growing crop and exhibit the highest biomass production potential on moderately metal-contaminated land. But in this research, the by-product (stem) of the biomass will be used as potential biosorbent to clean-up water contaminated by toxic metal ions. This biomass is usually locally abundant and it is normally thrown to fire and burned in local and national farms.

1. 4. 4 Adsorption kinetics

Adsorption isotherms commonly describe the phenomenon responsible for mobility of the adsorbent from the aqueous phase or medium to a solid-phase material at a given time and pH [72]. Equilibrium isotherms are determined to quantify the adsorption capacity of the biosorbent with respect to an adsorbate. The most common types of models describing this type of system are the Langmuir and Freundlich isotherms [73 - 75]. The Langmuir and Freundlich models are always selected to fit the equilibrium data obtained from the batch adsorption experiments [76].

Langmuir model is valid to adsorption onto a surface containing a limited number of identical adsorption sites which assumes monolayer coverage of adsorbate over a homogeneous adsorbent surface, and that the adsorption of each molecule onto the surface has equal activation energy [76]. This model is presented in the form of the equation 1 below:

<u> </u>	+	C _e	Ea. 1 [77]
q_c	q _{max•b}	q_{max}	······································

Where q_{max} is monolayer capacity of the biosorbent (mg/g), q_e is the amount of metal ion in unit mass of adsorbent at equilibrium, C_e is the equilibrium concentration of the metal ions, and b is the biosorption constant (L/mg).

Freundlich model is the earliest empirical model known for describing the non-ideal and reversible adsorption. This can be applied to multilayer adsorption with non-uniform distribution of adsorption over the heterogeneous surface [72, 76]. It has been observed for a wide range of heterogeneous surfaces which include activated carbon, silica, metals, polymers and clays [19- 20]. The Freundlich equation is expressed as follows [77]:

$$\log q_{e} = \log K_{f} + \frac{1}{n} \log C_{e} \dots Eq.2$$
[77]

Where q_e is the retained metal ion at equilibrium, C_e is the non-retained metal ion at equilibrium, K_f and $\frac{1}{n}$ are Freundlich isotherm constants related to biosorption capacity and intensity of biosorption, respectively. Freundlich isotherm is linear when $\frac{1}{n} = 1$, and as $\frac{1}{n}$ increases, the isotherm becomes more non-linear [76].

Adsorption kinetics were investigated by using the saturation concentration of Pb(II), Cu(II), Hg(II), and Cr(III) in sorbent phase corresponding to their different initial concentrations at an adsorbent dosage of 2 g activated carbon, 20 mL of metal ion solution, at temperature of $25 \, {}^{0}$ C and pH of 5-6.

1.5 Rationale and Motivation

The problem of water-contamination by industrial activities can be solved by the use of lowcost effective methods provided by the agricultural by-products. Bioremediation offers the advantages of low-operating cost, and minimization of the volume of chemical and biological sludge to be disposed. Remediation is one of the simplest and effective method to solve the problem of high toxicity caused by effluents discharged from industrial activities such as mining and electroplating.

Remediation method is usually chosen over conventional methods, because it is eco-friendly, efficient, environmental friendly and is usually local abundant for use. Bioremediation method can be employed in aqueous solutions containing metal ion having concentration lower than 50 mg/L. Recent literature has reported that more attention has been given to activated carbon (AC) prepared from agricultural by-products, which have got sufficiently high metal binding capacity and selectivity metal ions [65-76]. Activated carbon prepared via chemical activation method has high yield and low- energy cost compared to physical activation method. High surface area and high pore volumes exhibited by activated carbon encourage its adsorption ability.

Equilibrium models and mechanisms behind the adsorption of metal ions are of importance in order to understand the full interaction or reaction between the adsorbent and adsorbate. The kinetic studies will reveal the adsorption/attraction forces involved.

1.6 Research statement

The problem of water contamination is a world-wide problem and is continuously increasing as the world's population and urbanization increases daily. Therefore, cleaning-up of water using cheap, affordable, efficient and environmental friendly methods is desirable. Hence, using activated carbon, that is, the use of modified-biomass as the adsorbent of metal ions from aqueous solution is one of the promising solution to this global problem. According to recent studies on the use of biomasses or agricultural by-product, potential agricultural biosorbents have shown possibilities to remediate some heavy metals from water. These includes *Tamarindus Indica* fruit nut testa [50], *Zea mays* cob [51], maize leaf [52], wheat corn [53], gelatin [54], *Moringa oleifera* seeds [10], orange waste [56, 57], bagasse fly ash from sugar industry waste [58], modified activated carbon [59], activated carbon from bagasse [60], hen feathers [61]. Although bioremediation is not 100 percent efficient, it does remove some percentage of heavy metals in water. Here, we will compare the ability of *Zea mays* stem and its activated carbon as the potential adsorbents to adsorb metal ions from dilute aqueous solutions containing metal ions.

1.7 Aims and objectives of this project

The main aim of this work was to synthesis, characterize and use the activated carbon prepared from *Zea mays* stem to remediate metal ions from aqueous solution. In order to achieve this aim, the following specific objectives were formulated:

- 1) To synthesis and characterize activated carbon from Zea mays stem.
- To investigate the adsorption ability of the prepared activated carbon and raw Zea mays stem.
- To compare and evaluate the effect of pH, contact time, initial concentration, and adsorbent dosage on removal of metal ions.
- To trace up the amount of metal ions that can be remediated by *Zea mays* stem and its activated carbon.
- 5) To determine the most suitable equilibrium adsorption isotherm for both biosorbents.

1.8 References

- EPA: Environmental Protection Agency. National Primary Drinking Water Regulations. http://www.biovir.com/Images/pdf054.pdf (accessed 27 September 2012).
- Obuseng, V.; Nareetsile, F.; Kwaambwa, H.M. A study of the removal of heavy metals from aqueous solutions by *Moringa oleifera* seeds and amine-based ligand 1,4- bis[N,N-bis(2-picoyl)amino]butane. *Anal, Chim. Acta*, 2012, 730, 87-92.
- Nadeem, M.; Mahmooda, A.; Shahid, S.A.; Shah, S.S.; Khalid, A.M.; McKaye, G. Sorption of lead from aqueous solution by chemically modified carbon adsorbents. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 2006, *138*, 613.
- Zevenhoven, R.; Kilpinen, P. Control of pollutants in flue gases and fuel gases.
 Finland: *Espoo*; 2001.
- Pagnanelli, F.; Mainelli, S.; Veglio, F.; Toro, L. Heavy metal removal by olive pomace: bi- osorbent characterization and equilibrium modeling. *Chem .Eng. Sci.* 2003, *58*, 4017.
- 6. Prof. Shakhashiri, General Chemistry. <u>www.scifun.org</u>. (revised 2011)
- Medjor, W.O.; Eghaveuba, F.; Akpoveta, V.O.; Ize-Iyamu, O.K.; Jatto, E.O. Remediatioof crude-oil contaminated groundwater by fenton-oxidative method. *Int. J. Environ. Sci.* 2012, 2, 3.
- Nadia, J.; Munawar, A.M.; Sidra, T.M. Biosorption of Hg(II) and Cd(II) from wastewater by using zea mays waste. J. Chem. Soc. Pak. 2009, 31, 3.

- Kalavathy, M.H.; Miranda, L.R. *Moringa oleifera*—A solid phase extractant for the re- moval of copper, nickel and zinc from aqueous solutions. *J. Chem. Eng.* 2012, 158, 188–99.
- Cleids,S.T.; Ara, UJO.; Carvalho, D.C.; Rezende, H.C.; Ione, L.S.; Coelho, L.M.;
 Coelho, M.N.M.; Marques, T.L.; Aves, V.N. Bioremediation of waters contaminated with heavy metals using *Moringa Oleifera* seeds as Biosorbent. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.57721/56157</u>
- Muhammad, A.A.; Mahmood, K.; Abdul, W. Study of low cost biosorbent for biosorption of heavy metals using Banana peel. *Int. Conf. F. Eng. Biotechnol.* 2011, 9, 60-68.
- Sud, D.; Mahajan, G.; Kaur, M.P. Agricultural waste material as potential adsorbent for sequestering heavy metal ions from aqueous solution. *Bioresour*. *Technol.* 2008, 99, 6017-6027.
- Igwe, J.C.; Abia, A.A. Bioseparation process for removing heavy metal from waste water using biosorbents. *Afr. J. Biotech.* 2006,5,1167-1179.
- Reddy, D.H.K.; Ramana, D.K.V.; Seshaiah, K.; Reddy, A.V.R. Biosorption of Ni(II) from aqueous phase by *Moringa oleifera* bark, a low cost biosorbent. *Desalination*. 2011, 268, 150–57.

- Qaiser, S.; Saleemi, A.R.; Umar, M.; Biosorption of lead(II) and chromium(VI) on groundnut hull: Equilibrium, kinetics and thermodynamics study. *Electron. J. Biotech.* 2009, *4*, 3-4.
- 16. Yuvaraja, G.; Krishnaiah, N.; Subbaiah, M.V.; Krishnaiah, A. Biosorption of Pb(II) from aqueous solution *Solanum melongena* leaf powder as low-cost biosorbent prepared from agricultural waste, colloids and surface. *Bio. Interfaces*. 2013, 09, 39.
- 17. Nilanjana, D.; Vimela, R.; Karthika, P. Biosorption of heavy metals. *Ind. J. Biotech.* 2008, .7, 159-169.
- Debayan, D.; Ranjana, C.; Chiranjib, B. Bioremediation of heavy metals from industrial effluents. *M.Sc. Dissertation*, Department of Chemical Engineering, Jadaupur University, Jadaupur, Kolkata-700032. India, May 2012.
- 19. Maranon, E.L.; Sastre, H. Heavy metal removal in packed beds using apple wastes. *Biores. Technol.* 1991, *38*, 39-43.
- Senthikumaar, S.; Bharathi, S.; Nithyanandhi, D.; Subburam, V. Biosorption of toxic heavy metals from aqueous solutions. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2000, 75, 163-165.
- Sobhanardakani, S.; Parvizimosaed, H.; Olyale, E. Heavy metals removal from wastewaters using organic solid waste (rice husk). *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 2013, 20, 5265-5271.
- Aksu, Z.; Isoglu, I.A. Removal of Cu(II) ions from aqueous solution by biosorption onto agricultural waste sugar beet pulp. *Process Biochem.* 2005, 40, 3031-3044.
- Saeed, A.; Akhter, M.W.; Iqbal, M. Removal and recovery of lead(II) from single and multi-metal (Cd, Cu, Ni, Zn) solutions by crop milling waste (black grom husk). *J. hazard. Mater.* 2005, *117*, 65-73.
- Wang, X.; Qin, Y. Equilibrium sorption isotherms for Cu(II) on rice bran. *Process Biochem.* 2005, 40, 677-680.
- 25. Ozer, A.; Ozer, D. The adsorption of copper ions onto dehydrated wheat bran (DWB). *Process Biochem*. **2004**, *39*, 2183-2191.
- 26. Bailey, S.E.; Olin, T.J.; Bricka, R.M.; Adrian, D.D. A review of potentially lowcost sorbents for heavy metals. *Water Res.* **1991**, *33*, 2469-2479.
- 27. Ho, Y.S. Removal of copper from aqueous solution by tree fern. *Water Res.* 2003, 37, 2323-2330.
- 28. Kartel, M.T.; Kupchik, L.A.; Veisov, B.K. Evaluation of pectin binding of heavy metal ions in aqueous solutions. *Chemosphere*. **1991**, *38*, 2591-2596.
- 29. Joshi, N.; Ahluwalia, S.S.; Goyal, D. Removal of heavy metals from aqueous solution by different bio-waste materials. *Res. J. Chem. Environ.* **2003**, *7*, 26-30.
- 30. Kannan, N.; Devi, M.S. Studies on removal of copper(II) and lead(II) ions by adsorption on commercial activated carbon. *Indian J. Environ. Prot.* **2005**, 28-37.

- 31. Mohanty, K.; Jha, M.; Meikap, B.C.; Biswas, M.N. Removal of chromium(VI) from dilute aqueous solutions by activated carbon developed from *Terminaliaarjuna* nuts activated with zinc chloride. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* 2005, 60, 3049-3059.
- 32. Awoyale, A.A.; Eloka-Eboka, A.C.; Odubiyi, O.A. Production and experimental efficiency of activated carbon from local waste *bamboo* for wastewater treatment. *Int. J. Eng. Appl. Sci.* 2003, *3*, 8-17.
- 33. Badmus, M.A.O.; Audu, T.O.K.; Anyafa, B.U. Removal of lead ion from industrial wastewaters by activated carbon prepared periwinkle shells (*Typano tonus fuscatus*). *Turkish. J. Eng. Environ. Sci.* 2007, 31, 251-263.
- 34. Gang, S.; Weixing, S. Sunflower stalk as adsorbents for the removal of metal ions from wastewater. *Ind. Eng. Chem Res.* 1998, 37, 1324-1328.
- 35. Singh, C.K.; Sahu, J.N.; Mahalik, K.K.; Mohanty, C.R.; Raj Mohan, B.; Meikap,
 B.C. Studies on the removal of Pb(II) from wastewater by activated carbon developed from tamarid wood activated with sulphuric acid. *J. Hazard. Mater.*2008, 153, 221-228.
- 36. Lamley, A.; Wagenet, L.; Kneen, B. Activated carbon treatment of drinking water.Water treatment notes, Cornell cooperative Extension College of Human Ecology.2011.

- Dinesha, M.; Chsrles, U.; Pittman, Jr. Arsenic removal from wastewater using adsorbents. *Elsevier*. 2007, 16, 1-53.
- 38. Mustapha, S.; Dauda, B.E.N.; Iyaka, Y.A.; Mathew, T.J.; Aliy, I.A.; Shaba, E.Y. Removal of heavy metals from aqueous solution by modified carbon from *Bombax buonopozense. Int. J. Eng. Sci.* 2014, 3, 17-24.
- 39. Snthil, K.P.; Vincent, K.; Kirthika, K.; Sathish-Kumar, K. Kinetics and equilibrium studies of Pb(II) ion removal from aqueous solutions by the use of nano-silversol-coated activated carbon. *Desalination and water treatment*. **2010**, *27*, 339-346.
- 40. Ntuli, V.; Hapazari, I. Sustainable waste management by production of activated carbon from agroforestry residues. *S. Afric. J. Sci.* **2013**, *109*, 1-6.
- 41. Sivakumar, B.; Kannan, C.; Karthikeyan, S. Preparation and characterization of activated carbon prepared from *Balsamodendron caudatum* wood waste through various activation processes. *Rasayan. J. Chem.* 2012, *5*, 321-327.
- Pragya, P.; Sripal, S.; Maheshkumar, Y. Preparation and study of properties of activated carbon produced from agricultural and industrial waste shells. *Res. J. Chem. Sci.* 2013, *3*, 12-15.
- 43. Akpa, J. G.; Nmegbu, C.G.J. Adsorption of benzene on activated carbon from agricultural waste materials. *Res. J. Chem. Sci.* **2014**, *4*, 34-40.

- 44. Yusufu, M.I.; Ariahu, C.C.; Igbabul, B.D. Production and characterization of activated carbon from selected local raw materials. *Afric. J. Pure. Appl. Chem.*2012, 6, 123-131.
- 45. Gumus, R.H.; Okpeku, I. Production of activated carbon and characterization from snail shell waste (*Helix Pomatia*). *Adv. Chem. Eng. Sci.* **2015**, *5*, 51-61.
- 46. Kumar, A.T.; Sekaran, C.; Ahamed, K.R. Preparation of activated carbon from *Vitex Negundo* stem and evaluation of its physical and chemical properties. *Int. J. Inn. Technol. Exp. Eng. (IJITEE).* 2014, *4*, 2272-3075.
- 47. Sugumaran, P.; Susan, P.V.; Tavichandran, P.; Seshadri, S. Production and characterization of activated carbon from banana empty bunch and *Deloxin regia* fruit pod. *J. Sust. Energy. Environ.* 2012, *3*, 125-132.
- 48. Ioonnidou, O.; Zabaniotou, A. Agricultural residues as precursors for activated carbon production. *Renew. Sust. Energy.* **2007**, *11*, 1966-2005.
- 49. Cobb, A.; Warms, M.; Maurer, E.P; Chiesa, S. Low-tech coconut shell activated charcoal production. *Int. J. Eng.* **2012**, *7*, 93-104.
- 50. Khadijah, S.C.O.; Fatimah, S.C.O.; Misnon, N.A.; Hanim, K. Utilization of sugarcane bagasse in the production of activated carbon for groundwater treatment. *Int. J. Eng. Appl. Sci.* 2012, 1, 2-8.

- 51. Jambulingam, M.; karthikeyan, S.; Sivakumar, P.; Kiruthika, J.; Maiyalagam, T. Characterization studies of some activated carbons from agricultural wastes. J. Sci. Ind. Res. 2007, 66, 495-500.
- 52. Itodo, A.U.; Abdulrahman, F.W.; Hassan, L.G.; Maigandi, S.A.; Onojah, H.U. Physicochemical parameters of adsorbents from locally sorted phosphoric acid and zinc chloride modified agricultural wastes. *Iran. Chem. Chem. Eng.* 2011, 30, 51-57.
- 53. Subramani, T.; Revathi, P.K. Production of activated carbon from agricultural raw waste. *IOSRJ. Eng.* **2015**, *5*, 54-63.
- 54. Madu, P.C.; Lajide, L. Physicochemical characteristics of activated carbon derived from melon seed husk. *J. Chem. Pharm. Res.* **2013**, *5*, 94-98.
- 55. Bernard, E.; Jimoh, A.; Odigure, T.O. Heavy metals removal from industrial wastewater by activated carbon prepared from coconut shell. *Res. J. Chem. Sci.* 2013, 3, 3-9.
- 56. Moreno-Pirajan, J.C.; Giraldo, L. heavy metal ions adsorption from wastewater using activated carbon from orange peel. *E. J. Chem.* **2012**, *9*, 926-937.
- 57. Mervette.; Botouti, E.L.; Moneim, A.; Ahmed, M. Adsorption kinetics of nickel
 (II) onto activated carbon prepared from natural adsorbents rice husk. 2015, 2, 145-148.

- 58. Rahman, M.M.; Adil, M.; Yusof, A.M.; Kamaruzzaman, Y.B.; Ansary, R.H. Removal of heavy metal ions with acid activated carbons derived from oil palm and coconut shells. *Materials*. **2014**, *7*, 3634-3650.
- 59. Raji, C.; Manju, G.N.; Anirudhan, T.S. Removal of heavy metal ions from water using sawdust-based activated carbon. *Ind. J. Eng. Mat. Sci.* **1997**, *4*, 254-260.
- 60. Meena, A.K.; Rajagopal, C.; Kiran. C.R.; Mishra, G.K. Removal of heavy metal ions from aqueous solutions using chemically (Na₂S) treated granular activated carbon as an adsorbent. *J. Sci. Ind. Res.* **2010**, *69*, 449-453.
- Onyeji, L.I.; Aboje, A.A. Removal of heavy metals from Dye effluent using activated carbon produced from Coconut shell. *Int. J. Eng. Sci. Technol.* 2011, 3, 8240-8243.
- 62. Farooq, U.; Kozinski, J.A.; Khan, M.A.; Athar, M. Biosorption of heavy metal ions using wheat based biosorbents. *Biores. Technol.* **2010**, *101*, 5043-5063.
- 63. Igwe, J.C.; Abia, A.A. Sorption and intraparticulate diffusivities of d, Pb, Zn ions on maize cob. *Afri. J. Biotech.* **2005**, *4*, 509-512.
- 64. Igwe, J.C.; Okpareke, O.C; Abia, A.A. Sorption kinetics and intraparticulate diffusivities of Co, Fe, Cu ions on EDTA modified maize cob. *Int. J. Chem. India.* 2005, *15*, 187-191.

- 65. Igwe, J.C.; Ongunewe, D.N.; Abia, A.A. Competitive adsorption of Zn(II), Cd(II), Pb(II) ions from aqueous solution and non-aqueous solution by maize cob and husk. *Afric. J. Biotechnol.* 2005, *4*, 1113-1116.
- 66. Igwe, J.C.; Abia, A.A. Maize cob and husk as adsorbents for the removal of Cd,Pb, Zn ions from wastewater. *The Phys. Sci.* 2003, *2*, 83-94.
- 67. Igwe, J.C.; Abia, A.A.; Ibeh, C.A. Adsorption kinetics and intraparticulates diffusives of Co(II), Fe(II), Cu(II) ions from wastewater using modified and unmodified maize cob. *J. Phys. Sci.* **2007**, *8*, 119-127.
- Ajitha, J.P.; Sankara, R.G.; Krishnaiah, A.; Veera, M.B. Biosorption of chromium, copper, nickel ions by *Tamarindus indica* fruit nut testa. 2008, 12, 145-155.
- Mohmoud, M.E.; Hanem, R.; Mohamed, A. Biosorption and removal of Cr ions from water by eco-friendly gelatin biosorbent. J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 2004, 2, 715-722.
- 70. Markus, P.; Mench, M.; Bert, V.; Kumpiene, J.; Kidd, P.; Cuddy, A.
 Phytoextraction of the labile metal pool "Biavailable contaminant striping". *Int. J. Phytoremediation*. 2014, *16*, 735-754.
- 71. Mittal, A.; Kurup, L.; Mittal, J. Freundlich and Langmuir adsorption isotherms and kinetic studies for the removal of tartrazine from aqueous solutions using hen feathers. J. Hazard. Mater. 2007, 146, 243-248.

- 72. Ghasemi, M.; Nauslved, M.; Ghasemi, N.; Khosrovi-far, Y. Adsorption of Pb(II) from aqueous solution using new adsorbents prepared from agricultural waste: adsorption isotherms and kinetic studies. *J. Ind. Eng. Chem.* **2014**, *20*, 2193-2199.
- 73. Ho, Y. S.; Mckay, G. The kinetics of sorption of divalent metal ions onto Sphagnum Moss plant. Wat. Res. 2000, 34, 735-742.
- 74. Langmuir, I. The adsorption of gases on plane surfaces of glass mica and platinum. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1918, 40, 361-1403
- 75. Freundlich, H. Z. Colloid and capillary chemistry. Phys. Chem. 1907, 57, 388-470.
- 76. Maneerung, T.; Liew, J.; Dai, Y.; Kawi, S. Chongo, C.; Wang, C.F. Activated carbon derived from carbon residue from biomass gasification and its application for dye adsorption. Kinetics, isotherm and thermodynamic studies. *Bio. Res. Technol.* 2015, 200, 350-359.
- 77. Namasivsysm, C.; Kanchana, N. Waste banana pith as adsorbent for color removal from wastewaters. *Chemosphere*. **1992**, *25*, 1691-1705.
- 78. Robert, J.; Umpleby, I.I.; Sarah. C.; Bode, M.; Berch, J.; Shah, R. N.; Shimuzu, K.
 D. Application of Freundlich adsorption isotherm in characterization of molecularly imprinted polymers. *Analy. Chim. Act*, 2001, 435, 35-42.
- Anwar, J.; Shafique, U.; Zaman, W.; Salman, M.; Dar, A.; Anwar, S. Removal of Pb(II) and Cd(II) from water by adsorption on peels of banana. *Bio. Res. Technol.* 2010, *101*, 1752-1755.

CHAPTER TWO

2. EXPERIMENTAL

2.1 Chemicals and Reagents

All chemicals and reagents were obtained from Sigma-Aldrin/ Merck and were used as received. Sodium thiosulphate (Na₂S₂O₃), iodine solution, ammonia solution (NH₃), sulphuric acid (H₂SO₄), phosphoric acid (H₃PO₄), sodium hydroxide (NaOH), potassium hydroxide (KOH), sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO₃), sodium sulphate solution (Na₂SO₄), 35% hydrochloric acid (HCl). Stock solutions of Pb(II), Cu(II), Cr(III), and Hg(II) 1000 mg/L were prepared by dissolving lead nitrate (Pb(NO₃)₂, chromium nitrate (Cr(NO₃)₂, mercury chloride (Hg₂Cl₂), and copper sulphate (Cu(SO₃)₂ in de-ionized water and were used for further dilutions.

The pH of the solutions was adjusted using dilute solutions of 0.1 M HCl and 0.1 M NaOH. *Zea mays* stem waste material was collected from the University of Fort Hare research farm along the road to King Williams Town. Several portions of distilled water were applied to clean up this biomass material in order to remove any dirt and particulate materials attached to it. Washing the biomass with double-distilled water removes the surface impurities and expose the available binding sites for metal sorption. The biomass was then sun dried for almost 20 days. It was taken into the oven (Memmert oven Lasec SA) at 120 $^{\circ}$ C to be dried further. After being dried, it was chopped into smaller pieces suitable for grinding in AFRIMILL NO. 1 blender from Animal traction Centre to a powder-like form of about 0.85 – 0.1 mm internal diameter. The produced *Zea mays* stem material was stored in a desiccator for later use.

2.2 Physical measurements

2.2.1 Fourier Transform- Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR)

The functional groups of *Zea mays* stem and its activated carbons were determined using Fourier transform- Infrared spectroscopy (PERKIN ELMER, SYSTEM 2000 FT-IR) in the range of 4000 -400 cm⁻². Few grams of the sample were mixed with KBr pellets in a mortar. FTIR is an important tool to identify the characteristic functional groups of the material.

2.2.2 Scanning electron microscopy with Energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (SEM/EDS)

SEM was used to identify the surface morphology and/or microstructure of the *Zea mays* stem and the prepared activated carbons. SEM images were obtained in a JEOl, JSM- 6390 LV (JEOL Ltd, Japan) instrument with a 3kV voltage at different magnifications x1000, x2000, x3000, x5000, and x10000.

2.2.3 Powder X-ray diffraction (pXRD)

X-ray scattering techniques are a family of non-destructive analytical techniques which reveal information about the crystallographic structure, chemical composition and physical properties of the sample without destroying it. X-ray diffraction produce the atomic structure of materials and is based on the elastic scattering of X-ray from the electron clouds of the individual atoms. Powder X-ray diffraction is a technique used to characterize the crystallographic structure and orientation of substrate –anchored thin films [1, 8]. Bruker-D8 advance powder X-ray diffractometer instrument operating at a voltage of 40 kV and a current of 30 mA with Cu k α radiation was used in this study.

2.2.4 Atomic absorption spectrometry (AAS)

Atomic absorption spectrometry (Thermo Scientific, ice 3000 SERIES, AA Spectrometer) was used to determine the concentration of metal ions before and after adsorption.

2.3 Preparation of activated carbon from Zea mays stem

Activated carbon was prepared from *Zea mays* stem using one step chemical activation method reported [9 - 10]. Chemical activation method was chosen over physical activation method because of a number of reasons such as; low temperature for pyrolysis, one step process, much high activated carbon yield, and very high surface area for chemical activated carbon than that produced through physical activation [11].

2.3.1 Preparation of activated carbon from phosphoric acid

About 10 g dried *Zea mays* stem was impregnated with 100 mL of phosphoric acid until an extensive swelling was observed. The mixture was them kept in an oven at 100 °C overnight. It was then removed from the oven and allowed to cool, colour changed to light brown as shown by beaker B in Figure 2.1 was observed



Figure 2.1: The impregnation mixture of Zea mays stem with H₂SO₄ (A) and H₃PO₄ (B)

The mixture was then taken into electric furnace for 1 hour 30 minutes at temperatures ranging from 400-600 °C. A deep black bubbles-like structure of activated carbon was produced and was allowed to cool down. After cooling, it was rinsed with hot distilled water to remove excess phosphoric acid from the activated carbon until the pH of the washings was neutral, that is, pH = 7. The obtained activated carbon was then dried further in an oven at 100 °C overnight. The activated carbon obtained from complete phosphoric acid treatment is presented in Figure 2.2.



Figure 2.2: Activated carbon synthesized from phosphoric acid.

2.3.2 Preparation of activated carbon from sulphuric acid

The above procedure was followed, that is, 10 g of *Zea mays* stem material was mixed with 75 mL of H₂SO₄ and the impregnation mixture turned to dark brown colour after it was kept overnight in an oven at 100 °C as shown in beaker A in Figure 2.1. The mixture was then taken into electric furnace for almost 1 hour, where it expanded and formed black carbon materials. It was then cooled and was neutralized with 80 mL of 1% NaHCO₃ solution for 1 hour to remove the acid from the activated carbon. The activated carbon was filtered using Whatman filter paper and further dried in an oven at 100 °C overnight. Figure 2.3 shows the final product of activated carbon from sulphuric acid.



Figure 2.3: Activated carbon obtained from sulphuric acid

2.3.3 Preparation of activated carbon from sodium hydroxide

10 g of *Zea mays* stem was impregnated with 100 mL NaOH solution and kept in an oven overnight. It was then introduced into electric furnace for 2 hours at temperatures ranging from 500-600 °C. After that duration it was cooled and neutralized for 1 hour with 35% HCl to remove NaOH in the activated carbon. It was then filtered and dried again overnight in an oven.

2.3.4 Preparation of activated carbon from potassium hydroxide

To prepare of activated carbon from *Zea mays* stem using KOH, the same procedure used for NaOH in Section 2.3.3 was also applied, that is, 10 g of *Zea mays* stem material with 100 mL KOH solution and it produced large black activated carbon as shown in Figure 2.4 (E and D)

shows the mixtures of NaOH and KOH treated activated carbon after impregnation and kept in an oven at 100 °C overnight and Figure 2.4 (G and H) shows the NaOH and KOH treated activated carbon final products.



Figure 2.4: Impregnation mixture of *Zea mays* stem with NaOH (E), KOH (F), and resultant activated carbon from NaOH (G) and KOH (H).

2.4 Preparation of metal ion solutions

Stock solutions of metal ion solutions were prepared by dissolving appropriate amounts of Pb(NO₃)₂, Cr(NO₃)₂, Hg₂Cl₂, and Cu(SO₄)₂ in de-ionized water in concentration of 1 g/L. Dilute solutions were prepared from the stock solutions in concentrations of 200 ppm, 400 ppm, 600 ppm, and 800 ppm respectively. For the assurance of the concentration of the metal ion solutions, the dilute solutions were measured with AAS in order to confirm the exact initial concentration of each metal ion in the solution before adsorption. These metal ion solutions were then stored in a hood to prevent them from reacting with atmospheric gases in the surroundings. Since the adsorption studies are mostly affected by the pH of the solution, shaking speed, and contact time, the experiment was therefore conducted under similar experimental conditions where the initial pH was set between 2-6, shaking speed was 110 rpm, and contact time was around 12 hours.

2.5 Adsorption experiments

The effect of pH, contact time, stirring rate, and initial concentration of the metal ions in solution on biosorption and adsorption of Pb(II), Cr(III), Cu(II), and Hg(II) on *Zea mays* stem and its activated carbon were studied. The concentration of each and every metal ion solution after adsorption/biosorption was determined using AAS. Characterization of *Zea mays* stem, activated carbon, and metal ion solutions after adsorption was done. The physical measurements FTIR, XRD, and SEM/EDS for activated carbon and *Zea mays* stem after adsorption were done.

2.5.1 Effect of pH

The effect of pH on the biosorption and adsorption of Pb(II), Cr(III), Cu(II), and Hg(II) ions was investigated by adjusting the pH values to 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 keeping the adsorbent dosage at 0.2 g in 20 mL of solution, biosorbent dosage at 2 g in 20 mL of solution and temperature constant at and 25 °C respectively. The initial concentration of all the metal ions solutions were kept at 200 ppm. The adjustment of pH was done by using 2.0 M of HCl and/or 2.0 M of NaOH solutions.

2.5.2 The effect of contact time

The effect of contact time was studied or determined by dissolving 0.2 g of the adsorbent (activated carbon), or 2 g of biosorbent (*Zea mays* stem) in 20 mL of metal ion solution, keeping the pH constant for 6 hours.

2.5.3 The stirring rate

The stirring rate was kept constant at 110 revolutions per minutes (rpm) for the whole experiment/study in making sure that similar results are obtained.

2.5.4 The effect of concentration

The concentration of metal ion solutions were diluted to 200 ppm, 400 ppm, 600 ppm, and 800 ppm in order to investigate the ability of the biomass and its activated carbon to remediate metal ions from different lower concentrations of the aqueous solution.

2.5.5 The effect of biosorbent and adsorbent dosage

The effect of adsorbent and biosorbent dosage on removal of the metal ions from prepared aqueous solution was studied by adding 0.2 g, of the adsorbent and 2 g of biosorbent separately to glass flasks containing 20 mL of metal ion solutions having a concentration of 200 mg/L. The pH and the temperature were kept constant at 25 °C respectively. The flasks were constantly stirred continuous for 6 h at 110 rpm.

2.6 Determination of metal ion concentration, Percentage removal, and Sorption capacity

The following equation was used to determine the concentration of metal ions (M^{2+}) :

 $M_{Sorbent}^{2+(t)} = \frac{V_{solution\,(M_{t=0-M_{t}^{2+}}^{2+})}}{m_{sorbent}} \qquad \qquad Eq. 3[10]$

Percentage removal of the metal ions by activated carbons was calculated by the following equation:

 $R(\%) = \frac{C_i - C_f}{C_i} \cdot 100....Eq. 4$ [12]

Where: R – Removal percentage

Ci – initial metal ion concentration

Cf – final metal ion concentration (mg/L)

Sorption capacity was also calculated using the equation below:

 $Qe = \frac{V(Ci-Cs)}{1000w} \dots Eq. 5[12]$

Where: Qe – adsorption capacity (mg/g)

*C*i – initial metal ion concentration (mg/L)

*C*e – equilibrium metal ion concentration (mg/L)

W – Adsorbent dose (g)

V – Solution volume (mL)

2.7 Physicochemical Characteristics

2.7.1 Activated carbon yield (%) determination

Carbon yields are desirable and vital in the preparation of activated carbon. On this work, carbon yield for four activated carbon prepared with different activating reagents will were calculated using equation 6 below and results are presented in chapter 3.

Carbon yield (%) = $\frac{Activated \ carbon \ weight}{Raw \ material} \bullet 100.....Eq.6 [19]$

2.7.2 Adsorption capacity (%) using ammonia adsorption

The quality and effectiveness of the activated carbon as adsorbents was determined by its ability to adsorb gases such as NH₃ [19]. Adsorption percentage was determined using the equation below:

Adsorption (%) =
$$\frac{Wa - Wb}{Wb} \cdot 100....Eq. 7 [19]$$

Where *Wa* and *Wb* are weights of the activated carbon after and before ammonia adsorption, that is, after a particular amount of the activated carbon has been dissolved in the solution of ammonia and before that amount has been soaked in the solution of ammonia.

2.7.3 Iodine adsorption number method

Iodine adsorption number method is the most fundamental parameter used to characterize or test the activated carbon performance and credibility. It is the indication of the total surface area of the activated carbon produced through activation [19]. It is expressed in milligrams (mg) of iodine adsorbed by one gram of carbon when iodine concentration in the residual filtrate is 0.02 normal. Iodine adsorption number is given by the following equation:

Indine number =
$$\frac{V(Ti-Tf)Ci \cdot Mi}{(Ti-g)}$$
.....Eq. 8 [19]

Where:

V = 25 mL	(mL iodine solution)
Ti = 11.3 mL	(mL NaSO4 solution used for titration of 10 mL iodine
solution)	
Tf =	(mL NaSO4 solution used for titration of 10 mL filtrate
solution)	
g = 0.1g	(weight of the sample in grams)
Mi = 126.90 g/mol	(molar weight of iodine)
Ci = 0.046 N	(concentration of iodine)

2.8 References

- Subramani, T.; Revathi, P. K.; Production of activated carbon from agricultural raw wastes. IOSR. J. Eng. 2015, 05, 54-63.
- Zvinowanda, C. M. The utilization of maize tassel as an adsorbent for the removal of heavy metals from aqueous solutions. Ph.D. Tshwane University of Technology. *Dissertation, Technol*, 2009.
- Cardenas, G.; Miranda, S. P. FT-IR and TGA studies of chistosan composite films. J. Chilean, Chem. Soc. 2004, 49, 291-295.
- Musapatika, E.T. Use of low cost adsorbents to treat industrial wastewater. *M.sc Dissertation, Eng.* University of the Witwatersrand. 2010.
- Kibomi, D.; Pongenr, C.; Rao, K. S.; Sinha, D. Preparation and characterization of activated carbon from *Fagopyrum esculeuntum* Moench by nitric and phosphoric acids chemical activation. *Pelagia Res. Lib.* 2014, *5*, 46-55.
- Keane, D. Evaluation of the performance of activated carbon and titanium dioxide composites for pharmaceutical adsorption and photocatalysis in water. Ph.D. *Thesis*. Dublin City University. 2010.
- Ozdemir, I.; Sahin, M.; Orhan, R.; Erdem, M. Preparation and characterization of activated carbon from grape stalk by zinc chloride activation. *Fuel Proc Technol.* 2014, 125, 200-206.
- Hesas, R. H.; Niya, A. A.; Daud, W. A.; Sahu, J. N. Preparation and characterization of activated carbon from apple waste by phosphoric acid activation. *Bio Resour*. *Technol.* 2013, *8*, 2950-2966.
- Kin, J.; Sohn, H. M.; Kim, D. S.; Kwon, Y. S. Production of granular activated carbon from waste walnut shell and its adsorption characteristics for Cu(II) ion. *J. Hazard. Mat.* 2001, 85, 301-325.

- Monanty, K.; Jha, M.; Meikap, B. C.; Biswas, M. N. Removal of chromium(VI) from dilute aqueous solutions by activated carbon developed from *Terminalla Arjuna* nuts activated with zinc chloride. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* 2005, *60*, 30-49.
- 11. Ahmadpour, A.; Do, D. D. The preparation of activated carbon from macadamia nutshell by chemical activation. *Carbon*. **1997**, *35*, 1723-1732.
- Jovardian, H.; Ghorbani, H.; Tayebi, H. A.; Asl, S. N. Study of the adsorption of Cd(II) from aqueous solution using Zeolite-based geopolymer synthesized from coal ash; kinetic, isotherm and thermodynamic studies. *Arabian. J. Chem.* 2013, *8*, 837-849.

CHAPTER THREE

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSIONS

3.1 Introduction

Adsorption of metal ions from aqueous and industrial solutions using agricultural biomass has received significant attention in recent years and research has been carried out in order to find out the best method for metal ion removal. For any biomass to the used, it has to be locally abundant and the production and operational cost must be low. In this work, *Zea mays* stem and its activated carbon were used as metal ion adsorbents. The results obtained using activated carbon and its precursor (*Zea mays* stem) for the removal of metal ions from aqueous solutions are presented in this chapter.

Activated carbon prepared from *Zea mays* stem was characterized using FT-IR, SEM, EDS, and XRD. The adsorption performance and credibility of the prepared adsorbent was determined using physico-chemical parameters such as carbon yield, adsorption capacity, moisture content and iodine number before the adsorption. The effect of pH, initial concentration, adsorbent dosage, and contact time were carefully studied during batch experiments and the results are described in this chapter. The best fitting equilibrium model between Langmuir and Freundlich isotherms were studied in order to deduce which model describe the adsorption of each metal ion more successfully. After the adsorption studies, FT-IR, SEM, EDS, and XRD were used to characterize the adsorbents (activated carbon and *Zea mays* stem) in order to determine whether the adsorbate adsorbed on the surface of the adsorbent. The results obtained from characterization were compared to literature findings [1-7].

3.2 Characterization of the prepared activated carbon

3.2.1 FTIR spectra studies of the activated carbon

FTIR spectra of the *Zea mays* stem and its activated carbon were obtained to examine the functional groups present that might be necessary for the adsorption of metal ions. The spectra are presented in Figures 3.1 (A) and 3.2 (B). It can be observed that the precursor (*Zea mays* stem) contained more vibration bands than the prepared activated carbons.



Figure 3.1-2: FTIR spectrum for *Zea mays* stem (A), FTIR spectra for activated carbons prepared from acids and bases (B)

Comparing the FTIR results for *Zea mays* stem and that of the four activated carbons prepared from *Zea mays* stem, a strong broad stretching vibration at 3467 cm⁻¹ is observed and can be assigned to O-H stretch for primary alcohol and phenols of the lignocellulosic *Zea mays* stem [8]. The other functional groups that can be observed in the FTIR of the pure *Zea mays* stem are two N-H vibrations stretch at 3620-3500 cm⁻¹ assigned to primary amide. The C=C stretching vibration of the lignocellulose aromatic ring appeared at 1637 cm⁻¹, C-O-C stretching vibrations in ether, phenol and esters groups appeared between 1041 - 1248 cm⁻¹. For the activated carbons, the O-H stretching vibration is no longer intense and this O-H can be assigned to hydroxyl functional groups of the lignocellulose. The absence of N-H stretch and reduction of O-H stretch can be ascribed to degradation or dehydration of cellulosic material by the activating reagents used in the synthesis of the activated carbon [9]. The vibration stretch at 1000 cm⁻¹ for C-O group is more pronounced in the phosphoric acid activated carbon. This is so because activated carbon prepared from phosphoric acid has high carbon content and composed of well-developed carbonyl materials.

3.2.2 Morphology of the activated carbon

SEM images for the activated carbons prepared from the *Zea mays* stem using H₃PO₄ are presented in Figure 3.3.



Figure 3.3: SEM images of the activated carbon prepared with H₃PO₄ before adsorption

The SEM images in Figure 3.3 show that the phosphoric acid treated *Zea mays* stem activated carbon produced some external surfaces with irregular cavities and pores. Cavities and cracks on the surface of the activated carbons are believed to originate the evaporation of the activating agent such as phosphoric acid [10-13]. These irregular structures are responsible for entrapping metal ions during adsorption. The flaky morphologies shown by the SEM images have also been reported earlier [14].



Figure 3.4: EDS spectrum for activated carbon prepared with H₃PO₄ before adsorption

The high percentage of phosphorous (P), and oxygen (O) in the EDS of the prepared activated carbon might be due to phosphoric acid used as activating agent and that naturally present phosphorus. The presence of aluminium (Al) and silicon (Si) in the EDS spectrum might be due to the presence of some soil in the *Zea mays* stem.



Figure 3.5: SEM images of activated carbon prepared with H₂SO₄ before adsorption

SEM images of the activated carbon prepared with H_2SO_4 in Figure 3.5 shows some fairly smooth surfaces, with very few cracks and voids external structures on the surface of the carbon. The asymmetrical linings on the activated carbon surface when magnification is 5000x of images C above could be the one responsible for attracting metal ions.



Figure 3.6: EDS spectrum for activated carbon prepared with sulphuric acid before adsorption

The high percentage of sulphur (S) and oxygen (O) in the prepared activated carbon are from the sulphuric acid used as activating agent used to prepare activated carbon from *Zea mays* stem.



Figure 3.7: SEM images of activated carbon prepared with NaOH before adsorption

SEM images of activated carbon prepared with NaOH shown in Figure 3.7 have some fibrous (image D above) and uneven rough surfaces. The variety of open pores and cavities in the structures can also be observed in images A and B in Figure 3.7.

Full scale counts: 585

NaOH(1)_pt1



Figure 3.8: EDS spectrum of activated carbon prepared with sodium hydroxide before adsorption

EDS results for activated carbon prepared with NaOH indicates high values of sodium (Na), carbon (C), sulphur (S), and oxygen (O). The presence of elements such as Na and O can also be attributed to the use of sodium hydroxide in the synthesis of the activated carbon, while the presence of C can be credited to the high content of carbon in the prepared activated carbon.



Figure 3.9: SEM images of activated carbon prepared with KOH before adsorption

Variety of pores along with fibrous structures, holes and cavity openings on the surface of the carbon can be clearly seen on the KOH treated activated carbon. The SEM images in (Figure 3.9, A –D) show some holes and cavities which are visible and available for metal ion adsorption [13]. The higher the magnification, the better the visibility of holes and cavities. According to Hesas *et al.* activated carbon prepared from agricultural biomass usually show wide variety of pores, holes and cavities with fibrous structures [15]. Therefore, the SEM results presented in this study are in good agreement with the findings of many previous studies [13, 15].



Figure 3.10: EDS spectrum of activated carbon prepared with KOH before adsorption

The EDS results in Figure 3.10 shows high values of carbon (C) which are due to the high carbon content in the activated carbon prepared. On the other hand, there are very high values of potassium (K), oxygen (O), and sulphur (S) present that could be attributed to fact that the cleaning of the activating reagents during the synthesis of the activated carbon was not complete or the recovering agent (HCl) used to neutralize the base was weak.

3.3 Physico-chemical characteristics of the activated carbon

Four physico-chemical properties of the activated carbon were determined in order to understand the adsorption ability of the activated carbon and reveal the volume of pores available for adsorbing metal ions. These properties were:

- Carbon yield (%)
- ✤ Adsorption capacity (%) using ammonia adsorption method
- ✤ Iodine number
- Moisture content

3.3.1 Carbon yield (%) determination

Carbon yield percentage of activated carbons prepared with H₂SO₄, NaOH, H₃PO₄, and KOH from *Zea mays* stem were 77%, 50%, 34%, and 13% respectively. Activated carbon prepared with phosphoric acid had high percentage yield than the other three activated carbons. This indicates that sulphuric acid is one of the best chemical activating reagent to be used to prepared activated carbon from *Zea mays* stem, although other chemical activating reagents such sulphuric acid, sodium hydroxide, and potassium hydroxide are not that bad or low in producing activated carbon from *Zea mays* stem. The results obtained from carbon yield percentage indicates the amount of activated carbon produced from a specific amount of precursor (*Zea mays* stem) using a particular chemical reagent.

3.3.2 Adsorption capacity (%) using Ammonia adsorption

Adsorption abilities were calculated and found to be 67% for the activated carbon prepared with H₂SO₄, 21% for activated carbon prepared with KOH, and 20% for both NaOH and H₃PO₄ activated carbon. The differences in calculated adsorption ability using ammonia adsorption method signify that the adsorption ability of each activated carbon usually depends upon the amount of pore spaces and surface areas produced through the activation using a particular chemical reagent.

3.3.3 Iodine adsorption number method

The calculated iodine number for activated carbon prepared with sulphuric acid was 348.71 mg/g, for phosphoric acid activated carbon was 142.07 mg/g, for sodium hydroxide activated carbon was 90.41 mg/g, and that activated carbon prepared with potassium hydroxide was 88.68 mg/g respectively. The results obtained from the determination of carbon yield,

adsorption ability, and iodine number of activated carbon prepared with sulphuric acid has shown to be better than that of activated carbons prepared with phosphoric acid, sodium hydroxide, and potassium hydroxide.

3.4 Adsorption experiments

3.4.1 Effect of pH on adsorption of metal ions

In this study, the effect of pH of aqueous solution was studied from a range of 2 to 6 under fixed conditions of contact time of 120 minutes, 110 rpm shaking speed, initial concentration of 200 ppm 2 g of the adsorbent and that of biosorbent, and at room temperature. After careful study, the optimum pH 5-6 was chosen for all experiments. The maximum removal percentages that were obtained for metal ions at pH 5-6 are 97% for Pb(II), 98% for Cu(II), 89% for Cr(III) and there was no adsorption for mercury ions. Pb(II) and Cr(III) also showed a well-defined adsorption even at lower pH, of 98 % and 70 % respectively.

It was believed that the highest percentage removal of metal ions can be explained by the fact that at higher pH, the adsorbent surface is usually deprotonated and negatively charged, which causes more attraction between the positively charge metal cations and negatively charged adsorbent. While at lower pH, the competition between H^+ and dissolved metal ions for ligands such as OH^- , CO_3^{2-} , SO_4^{2-} , CI^- , S^{2-} and phosphates become more and more significant. This usually decreases the adsorption of metal ions. The adsorption of Cr(III) has been reported at pH range of 6-7 [26]. Maximum adsorption of Pb(II) at lower pH of 2 has also been reported [27]. Figure 3.11 shows that the percentage removal of metal ions increases as pH of the solution increases except for Hg(II). It has been reported that the metal ion removal increases as pH values rises, reaching maximum around 5.0 [28 -29].

Table 3.1 shows the amount of metal ions adsorbed by the adsorbent (q_e) at different pH levels.

Table 3.1: Effect of pH on adsorption of metal ions

Metal ions	Concentration (mg/L) at different pH levels					
	2	3	4	5	6	
Pb(II)	196.25	195.35	196.61	194.88	193.27	
Cu(II)	0.00	3.69	0.00	0.00	196.73	
Cr(III)	139.84	161.99	135.55	178.74	178.05	
Hg(II)	-	-	-	-	-	


Figure 3.11: Effect of pH on the removal of Pb(II), Cu(II), and Cr(III) by activated carbons prepared from *Zea mays* stem

3.4.2 Effect of contact time on metal ion removal

The effect of contact time on the removal of Pb(II), Cu(II), Cr(III), and Hg(II) from aqueous solution with activated carbon prepared from *Zea mays* stem, at fixed pH 5-6, as presented in Figure 3.12.



Figure 3.12: Effect of contact time on the removal of Pb(II), Cu(II), Cr(III), and Hg(II) by activated carbons from *Zea mays* stem

The result showed that the removal of Pb(II), Cu(II), Cr(III), and Hg(II) increased as the contact time between the adsorbent and metal ion solution increases. The percentage removal equilibrium was reached at different times, Pb(II) reached equilibrium at 35 min, Cu(II) at 80 min, Cr(III) at 60 min, and Hg(II) with a very slight adsorption shown after 120 minutes. The study was conducted at 25 °C and with a percent removal of 97% for Pb(II), 82% for Cr(III), and 21% for Cu(II) as shown in Table 3.2 (a-c). Therefore the metal ion removal trend was Pb(II) > Cu(II) >>Hg(II). An increase in contact time after the metal ion removal equilibrium of each metal ion did not bring any improvement, that is, the metal ion removal was effective until it reached equilibrium where the C_e and q_e are at equilibrium.

Table 3.2 (a-c) shows the effect of contact time and adsorption capacity on the removal of Pb(II), Cu(II), Cr(III). Where C_e is the equilibrium concentration of metal ions in a solution and q_e is the Equilibrium concentration of metal ion in adsorbent.

Time (min)	C _e (ppm)	q _e (ppm)	q _e (mg/g)	Adsorption
				capacity (%)
0	200	0	0	0
30	10.12	189.88	1.89	94.94
60	5.77	194.23	1.94	97
90	10.49	189.51	1.91	95.5
120	12.22	187.78	1.88	94
150	12.36	187.64	1.88	94
180	-	-	-	-

Table 3.2 (a): Effect of contact time on removal of Pb(II)

Table 3.2 (b): Effect of contact time on removal of Cu(II)

Time (min)	C _e (ppm)	q₌(ppm)	q₌(mg/g)	Adsorption
				capacity (%)
0	200	0	0	0
30	179.99	20.01	0.200	10.01
60	175.81	24.19	0.242	12.15

90	157.30	42.70	0.427	21.35
120	176.75	23.25	0.233	11.63
150	168.89	31.11	0.311	15.56
180	-	-	-	-

Table 3.2 (c): Effect of contact time on removal of Cr(III)

Time (min)	C _e (ppm)	q₌(ppm)	q _e (mg/g)	Adsorption
				capacity (%)
0	200	0	0	0
30	51.31	148.69	1.49	74.35
60	34.23	165.77	1.66	82.89
90	35.04	164 96	1.65	82 48
				02.10
120	35.66	164 34	1 64	82 17
120	55.00	101.51	1.01	02.17
150	41.10	158.90	1 50	79.45
150	41.10	130.70	1.57	77.43
190				
160	-	-	-	-

3.4.3 The effect of adsorbent dosage

The optimum adsorbent and biosorbent dosage for the removal of Pb(II), Cu(II), Cr(III), and Hg(II) ions from aqueous solution was chosen to be 2 g for all experimental procedure. Although Pb(II) and Cu(II) produced maximum removal even at 1 g of adsorbent, for other metal ions, increase in adsorbent dosage above 2 g did not increase the adsorption. The study of the relationship between the adsorbent dosage and metal ion removal percentage was conducted under specific conditions where pH was 5-6, maximum contact time of 2 hours, shaking speed of 110 rpm, and at room temperature. The reason for less adsorption/metal ion removal for higher adsorbent dosage than 2 g can be due to overcrowding of adsorbent surface.

3.4.4 Effect of initial concentration on the uptake of metal ions

The effect of initial concentration was studied under specific conditions where pH was 5-6, maximum contact time of 2 hours, adsorbent dosage of 2 g, shaking speed of 110 rpm with activated carbon from *Zea mays* stem as adsorbent. The initial concentration for metal ion solutions were 200 ppm, 400 ppm, 600 ppm, 800 ppm, and 1000 ppm respectively. The results obtained from the AAS Figure 3.13 shows that the metal ion removal increased as the metal ion concentration increases, except for Hg(II) in which there is no adsorption at all.



Figure 3.13: Effect of initial concentration on the removal of Pb(II), Cu(II), Cr(III), and Hg(II)

Figure 3.13 shows the effect of initial concentration of different metal ions on their uptake by the prepared activated carbon from *Zea mays* stem using sulphuric acid as activating agent. It is evident from Figure 3.13 that the use of prepared activated carbon for the removal of Pb(II) ion from aqueous solution shows promising results and can be used for the remediation of lead ion from the environmental water bodies to certain extent. Furthermore, the removal of Cr(III) ion from wastewater by prepared activated carbon can be achieved at concentrations around 200 ppm. Table 3.3 (a-c) shows the equilibrium concentration of metal ions in a solution (C_e) and equilibrium concentration of metal ions in an adsorbent (q_e) after adsorption for each metal ion Pb(II), Cu(II), Cr(III), and Hg(II). The mass of metal ion adsorbed, q_e in mg/g and the percentage removal is also shown in tables below.

Initial	Conc.	C _e (ppm)	q _e (ppm)	q _e (mg/g)	Adsorption
(ppm)					capacity (%)
400		1.51	398.49	3.98	99.62
600		6.39	593.61	5.94	98.94
800		6.91	793.09	7.93	99.14
1000		2.93	997.07	9.97	99.71

Table 3.3 (a): Effect of initial concentration on the removal of Pb(II)

Table 3.3 (b): Effect of initial concentration on the removal of Cu(II)

Initial C	Conc.	C _e (ppm)	q _e (ppm)	q _e (mg/g)	Adsorption
(ppm)					capacity (%)
400		353.19	46.81	0.47	11.70
600		409.10	190.90	1.91	31.82
800		587.75	212.25	2.12	26.53
1000		680.73	319.27	3.19	31.93

Initial C	Conc.	C _e (ppm)	q _e (ppm)	q _e (mg/g)	Adsorption
(ppm)					capacity (%)
400		271.13	128.87	1.29	32.22
600		515.21	84.76	0.85	14.13
800		374.62	425.38	4.25	53.17
1000		622.11	377.89	3.78	37.79

Table 3.3 (c): Effect of initial concentration on the removal of Cr(III)

Table 3.3 (a) shows the adsorption capacity (%) of Pb(II) ion by activated carbon at different concentrations. It is evident that the adsorption ability of the activated carbon on Pb(II) is greater than 99%. The amount of Pb(II) ion adsorbed by the adsorbent (activated carbon) q_e in mg/g and the adsorption capacity clearly indicates that activated carbon is one of the best methods for remediation of Pb(II) from aqueous solution and might be applicable for the remediation of Pb(II) from wastewater.

Table 3.3 (c) also indicate a better adsorption of Cr(III) which lies around 50%, then followed by that of Cu(II) metal ion which also lies around 30%. Although the amount of metal ion in the adsorbent increases as the concentration increase, there is no such difference. The amount of Pb(II), Cu(II), and Cr(III) ions adsorbed by adsorbent can also be confirmed on the SEM images produced after adsorption and the FTIR spectra after adsorption. The trend is Pb(II) > Cr(III) > Cu(II) >>Hg(II) respectively.

3.4.5 Effect of shaking speed on adsorption of metal ions

The effect of shaking speed on adsorption of metal ions Pb(II), Cu(II), Cr(III), Hg(II) with activated carbon prepared from *Zea mays* stem was studied under fixed conditions where maximum contact time was 2 hours, pH of the solutions was 5-6, 2 g of adsorbent, and at room temperature. Therefore the shaking speed was 110 rpm and all the experiments were conducted under this speed. The speed of the orbital shaker had no considerable effect on the adsorption of these metal ions, although the shaking speed is very important in making sure that the solution containing metal ion and the adsorbent get mixed as fast as possible. The sooner the contact time between the adsorbent and metal ion solution, the higher the adsorption efficiency.

	Shaking speed (rpm)					
Metal ions	90	100	110	120		
Pb(II)	190.25	196.29	196.90	143.98		
Cr(III)	130.25	130.70	149.90	110.99		
Cu(II)	14.35	10.11	79.98	0.72		
Hg(II)	-	-	-	-		

T 11	A		C 1	1 .	1		. 1	•	1	. •
Inhla	4 /	HITAOT	At al	ngking	cnood	nn	motal	10n	adeor	ntion
гарис	, 4	THUCL	01.51		SDUUL	U	motai	10711	auson	
	•••		· · · ·			· · · ·				P ** 0 **

3.5 Adsorption kinetics

3.5.1 Langmuir and Freundlich isotherms

Biosorption isotherms describe how adsorbate interacts with biosorbents and equilibrium is established between adsorbed metal ions on the biosorbent and the residual metal ions in the solution during the surface adsorption. The most common types of models describing this type of system are the Langmuir and Freundlich isotherms [17-18]. In this study, Langmuir and Freundlich models were used to identify which model best fit each of the metal ions studied. For Langmuir model, the amount of metal ion adsorbed in unit of adsorbent mass (q_e) was plotted against the equilibrium concentration of the metal ion (C_e) , whereas for Freundlich model, the logarithm of q_e (the amount of metal ion adsorbed in unit of adsorbent mass) was plotted against the logarithm of C_e (the equilibrium concentration of the metal ion). Trend-line was used to determine the equation and the correlation co-efficient.

Initial	Mass of	Volume of	Final	Mass of	x/m or	$C_{e}(mg/g)$
Conc.	adsorbent	solution	Conc.	(q_e)	q _e (g/g)	
(mg/L)	(g)	(mL)	(mg/L)	adsorbate		
				adsorbed		
				(mg/g)		
200	2	20	12.36	1.88	0.0019	12.36
400	2	20	1.51	3.98	0.0039	1.51
600	2	20	6 39	5 94	0.0059	6 39
000	-		0.59	0.51	0.0002	0.29
000	2	20	6.01	7.02	0.0070	6.01
800	2	20	6.91	1.93	0.0079	6.91
1000	2	20	2.93	9.97	0.0099	2.93

Table 3.5: Langmuir isotherm results for the adsorption of Pb(II)

The values in Table 3.5 was used to plot Figure 3.14.



Figure 3.14: Langmuir isotherm for the adsorption of Pb(II) by activated carbon as adsorbent

The results obtained on Figure 3.14 correctly fit the Langmuir model and is confirmed by the correlation co-efficient of R^2 =0.9305. The correlation co-efficient obtained above clearly indicates that the adsorption of Pb(II) ion was favourable and of monolayer process according to Langmuir model [36]. The high value of the correlation co-efficient indicates the better process of adsorption. Aqeel *et al.* [37] also report similar R^2 values for the adsorption of

Pb(II) by banana peel (*Musa Sapientum*). The correlation co-efficient value usual indicates the relationship between the adsorbent and aqueous solution in equilibrium.

Initial Conc. (ppm)	1/Ce	1/qe
200	0.081	526.32
400	0.662	256.41
600	0.156	169.49
800	0.145	126.58
1000	0.341	101.01

Table 3.6: Langmuir model values to plot $\frac{1}{qe} vs \frac{1}{Ce}$ for the adsorption of Pb(II)

The results presented in Table 3.6 above were used to plot Figure 3.15



Figure 3.15: Langmuir model plot 1/qe vs 1/Ce for the adsorption of Pb(II)

Slope $=\frac{Y2-Y1}{X2-X1} = \frac{256.41-169.49}{0.662-0.156} = 171.78$

Intercept = $\frac{1}{qmax} = 5$

Qmax = 1/5 = 0.2

Slope $=\frac{1}{kAqmax} = \frac{1}{Ka \cdot 0.2} = 171.78$

 $171.78 = \frac{1}{Ka \cdot 0.2}$

 $k_{A} = 0.03$

Therefore the Langmuir equation for Pb(II) is $\frac{1}{qe} = \frac{1}{K} + \frac{1}{KQ^0Ce}$

$$=\frac{1}{0.2}+\frac{1}{(0.2)(0.03)Ce}$$

$$\frac{1}{qe} = 5 + 166.67 \text{ Ce}$$

Freundlich isotherm for Pb(II)

$q_e = K_f C e^{1/n}$

Where K_f and 1/n are the Freundlich isotherm constants related to the adsorption capacity and the intensity of adsorption.

Initial Conc. (ppm)	logq _e	logC _e
200	1.09	-2.72
400	0.18	-2.41
(00	0.01	2.22
600	0.81	-2.23
800	0.84	-2 10
800	0.04	-2.10
1000	0.47	-2.00

Table 3.7: Freundlich model values to plot log_{qe} vs log_{Ce} for the adsorption of Pb(II)



Figure 3.16: Freundlich isotherm for the adsorption of Pb(II)

Figure 3.16 shows the Freundlich model for the adsorption of Pb(II). The correction coefficient obtained was very low which indicates that the adsorption of Pb(II) was best defined by Langmuir model over the Freundlich model. The Freundlich constants were calculated by liner regression from the plot of log q_e against log C_e , where K_f was found to be 4.7 x 10⁻⁵, while 1/n was 4.33 as shown below.

Slope =
$$\frac{1}{n} = \frac{\log q e_{y_1} - \log q e_{y_2}}{\log c e_{x_1} - \log c e_{x_2}} = \frac{-2.23 + 2.10}{0.81 - 0.84} = 4.33$$

Therefore, n = 0.23

Intercept = $\log K_f = -(\frac{1}{n})$

$$\log K_f = -\left(\frac{1}{n}\right)$$

$$K_f = 10^{\left(-\frac{1}{n}\right)}$$

 $K_f = 10^{\left(-4.33\right)}$
 $K_f = 4.7 \times 10^{-5}$

Therefore, the Freundlich equation for Pb(II) adsorption is:

$$q_e = K_f C e^{1/n}$$

 $q_e = 4.7 \times 10^{-5} C e^{4.33}$

Since K_f is the measure of the strength of absorption, the small value obtained in this study indicates that the adsorption did not fit Freundlich model, that is, the adsorption was not multilayer process. The value of 1/n indicates that the adsorption was decreasing as the metal ion concentration increases.

Initial Conc.	Mass of	Volume of	Final Conc.	Mass of	x/m or qe
(mg/L)	adsorbent (g)	solution	Ce(mg/L)	adsorbate	(g/g)
		(mL)		adsorbed qe	
				(mg/g)	
400	2	20	46.81	0.47	0.00047
600	2	20	190.90	1.91	0.0019
800	2	20	212.25	2.12	0.0021
1000	2	20	319.27	3.19	0.0032

Table 3.8: Langmuir isotherm values for the adsorption of Cu(II)

The results in the Table 3.8 above were used to plot the Langmuir isotherm for Cu(II) below.



Figure 3.17: Langmuir isotherm curve for the adsorption of Cu(II)

The correlation co-efficient for Langmuir isotherm on the adsorption of Cu(II) also indicated better relationship between the activated carbon and aqueous solution in equilibrium and the high value of R^2 shows out that the adsorption process was monolayer with homogeneous adsorbent. Aqeel *et al.* [20] report $R^2 = 0.996$ on their study using banana peel (*Musa Sapientum*) as adsorbent.

Initial Conc. (ppm)	1	1
	Ce	qe
400	0.021	2127.66
600	0.0052	526.32
800	0.0047	476.19
1000	0.0031	312.50

Table 3.9: Langmuir values to plot 1/qe vs 1/Ce for the adsorption of Cu(II)

Langmuir model values in the Table 3.9 were applied to plot the curve on Figure 3.18 below:



Figure 3.18: Langmuir model curve $\frac{1}{c_e}$ vs $\frac{1}{q_e}$ for the adsorption of Cu(II)

The correlation co-efficient, $R^2 = 1$ in Figure 3.18 confirm the fact that the adsorption of Cu(II) ions was monolayer with homogeneous adsorbent and best fit on Langmuir model.

The Langmuir equation for Cu(II) is $\frac{1}{qe} = 4 + 10204082C_{e}$

Freundlich isotherm for Cu(II)

Initial Conc. (ppm)	Log Ce	Log qe
400	1.67	-3.33
600	2.28	-2.72
800	2.33	-2.68
1000	2.50	-2.49

Table 3.10: Freundlich isotherm values for the adsorption Cu(II)



Figure 3.19: Freundlich isotherm curve for the adsorption of Cu(II)

The Freundlich isotherm curve in Figure 3.19 has produced a very high value of correlation co-efficient ($R^2 = 0.999$), which indicates that although the adsorption of Cu(II) ions by activated carbon from *Zea mays* stem was well defined by Langmuir model according the small value of K_f obtained below, correlation co-efficient values obtained show best fitting for both models.

Therefore the Freundlich equation for Cu(II) is $q_e = 0.158 Ce^{0.8}$

Where $K_f = 0.158$ and 1/n = 0.8 indicates a very minimal adsorption with heterogeneous material.

Initial Conc.	Mass of	Volume of	Final Conc.	Mass of	x/m or qe
(ppm)	adsorbent (g)	solution	Ce(mg/L)	adsorbate	(g/g)
		(mL)		adsorbed,	
				qe(mg/g)	
400	2	20	271 12	1 20	0.0013
400	2	20	2/1.13	1.27	0.0013
600	2	20	515.21	0.85	0.00085
800	2	20	374.62	4.25	0.0043
1000	2	20	622.11	3.78	0.0038

Table 3.11: Langmuir isotherm values for the adsorption of Cr(III)

The values in Table 3.11 were applied to plot the Langmuir isotherm for the adsorption of Cr(III) on Figure 3.20.



Figure 3.20: Langmuir isotherm curve for the adsorption of Cr(III)

Initial Conc. (ppm)	1 Ce	$\frac{1}{qs}$
400	0.0037	769.23
600	0.0019	1176.47
800	0.0027	232.56
1000	0.0016	263.16

Table 3.12: Langmuir model values to plot $\frac{1}{Ce}$ vs $\frac{1}{qe}$ for adsorption Cr(III)



Figure 3.21: Langmuir model curve for $\frac{1}{c_e}$ vs $\frac{1}{q_e}$ on the adsorption Cr(III)

Therefore the Langmuir equation for Cr(III) is $\frac{1}{q_e} = 4 + 526315.79 C_e$

Initial Conc. (ppm)	Log Ce	Log qe
400	2.43	-2.89
600	2.71	-3.07
800	2.57	-2.37
1000	2.79	-2.42

Table 3.13: Freundlich isotherm values for the adsorption of Cr(III)



Figure 3.22: Freundlich isotherm curve for the adsorption of Cr(III)

Therefore the Freundlich equation for Cr(III) is $q_e = 1.9 \times 10^{-4} Ce^{3.7}$.

The correction co-efficient value obtained in Figures 3.20 is small and it clearly indicates that the adsorption of Cr(III) was unfouvarable for monolayer adsorption. Figure 3.21 and 3.22 shows slightly better correlation co-efficient values, which points out that activated carbon prepared from *Zea mays* stem was homogeneous material and was not good enough to remediate Cr(III). Pirajan and Giraldo [19] also reported similar correlation co-efficient for Freundlich model of Cr(III) cations [19].

Table 3.14: Langmuir and Freundlich isotherm experimental constants for the adsorption Pb(II), Cu(II), and Cr(III) by activated carbon

Adsorption of metal ions	Langmuir isotherm		Freundlich isotherm constants			
	q _{max}	В	<i>R</i> ²	N	K _f	R ²
Adsorption of Pb(II)	0.2	0.3	0.9305	0.23	4.7 x 10 ⁻⁵	0.1185
Adsorption of Cu(II)	0.25	3.9 x 10 ⁻⁵	0.9999	1.25	0.158	0.9995
Adsorption of Cr(III)	0.25		0.3744	0.27	1.9 x 10 ⁻⁴	0.5469

3.6 Characterization of the activated carbon after adsorption

3.6.1 Characterization of activated carbon after adsorption

Characterization of activated carbon after adsorption was performed using characterization instruments and physicochemical properties. The FTIR spectra after adsorption of the four metal ions namely Pb(II), Cu(II), Cr(III), and Hg(II) is shown in Figure 3.23 below.



Figure 3.23: FTIR spectra after adsorption using activated carbon as adsorbent.

The IR spectra in Figure 3.23 shows a number of vibration peaks being shifted from original regions before adsorption, that is, the notable vibration bands are now located differently as before adsorption. The spectral shifting of these vibration peaks was a direct evidence that adsorption of metal ions has occurred on the surface of the adsorbent and that new bonds has

been formed between the functional groups and the adsorbate adsorbed on the surfaces of the adsorbents [29]. All the functional groups initially observed from the IR spectra of the activated carbons have completely changed or shifted by the interactions between metal ions and the functional groups. For example, on the IR spectra of the activated carbons in Figure 3.23, there were three important peaks: A strong stretching vibration at 3467.76 cm⁻¹ for O-H due to inter and intramolecular hydrogen bonding in alcohols, phenols, and acids group, another peak was also observed at 1637.5 cm⁻¹ for C=C, and the other one at 1041.90 – 1248.14 cm⁻¹ for C-O-C groups. After interaction and adsorption almost four new vibrational peaks were observed. The vibration peaks around 2876.87 - 2945.90 cm⁻¹ which can be attributed to symmetric and asymmetric C-H stretching vibration of aliphatic acids, new bond formation between the metal ion and adsorbent sites. The other vibration peaks around 1350.65 - 1480.76 cm⁻¹. Similar observation of peak shifting have been reported [30].

Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) images after adsorption were also taken in order to examine the interactions of the adsorbate on the adsorbent sites. The different SEM images are shown from Figures 3.24 to 3.26.



Figure 3.24: SEM images for activated carbon obtained after adsorption of Pb(II) and Cu(II)



Figure 3.25: SEM images for activated carbon obtained after adsorption of Hg(II) and Cr(III)

Figures 3.24 and 3.25 shows the SEM images of activated carbon obtained after adsorption of Pb(II), Cu(II) and Hg(II), Cr(III) ions. These SEM images indicate some white irregular flakes or particles on the surface of the adsorbent. Some irregular flaky attachments on the surface of the adsorbent signify the adsorbate adsorbed by the adsorbent. Comparing the SEM images of the activated carbon before and after adsorption, it can be observed that there are morphological changes after adsorption. Pores and voids that were seen before adsorption

are occupied/filled with precipitates and complexes formed by metal ions with proton acceptors or binding site functional groups [14].



Figure 3.26: SEM images of Zea mays stem obtained after biosorption of Pb(II)

The biosorption of Pb(II) using *Zea mays* stem is not that much pronounced as compared to that of its activated carbon. Figure 3.26 above shows the SEM images of *Zea mays* stem after biosorption of Pb(II) and it can be seen from the images that biosorption of the metal ion by *Zea mays* stem is less efficient. This fully agrees with the conclusion in the literature that the

activated carbon is far better than its precursor in terms of remediating metal ions from wastewater.

Energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (EDS) results below revealed the composition of the adsorbent after adsorption. These results shows the elements which are essential in adsorption and those commonly found in plant cells such C, O, S, K, P, and Na. Kibomi *et al.* [21] also confirmed the presence of such elements from activated carbon prepared by phosphoric acid activation [31]. Activated carbon prepared from agricultural biomass are normally rich in carbon (C) and potassium (K) [31]. These elements are very important in evaluating the mechanisms of adsorption. In this study, elements such as K, Na, Ca are believed to be the ones which were involved in exchanging sites with metal cations Pb(II), Cu(II), Cr(III) during chemo sorption and acted as active sites of metal ions. On the other hand the other elements C, O, S, and P detected in the EDS spectrum are believed to be part of hydroxyl, carbonyl and other proton acceptor group such as –SO₃H which were also responsible for binding the positively charged metal cations during chemo sorption.



Figure 3.27: EDS results for the adsorption of Pb(II) by activated carbon.

The Pb peak in the EDS spectrum fully agreed with the results obtained from the SEM that the activated carbon prepared from *Zea mays* stem acted as adsorbent to remove the Pb(II) ions from aqueous solution.



Figure 3.28: EDS spectrum for activated carbon after adsorption of Cu(II).

Figure 3.29 above shows that although the adsorption of Cu(II) was little, but activated carbon has adsorbed some Cu(II) ions and this is in agreement with the results from the FTIR and SEM conducted in this study.



Figure 3.29: EDS spectrum after adsorption of Cr(III) by chemical activated carbon.

The presence of chromium in the EDS spectrum provided the evidence that activated carbon can adsorb such metal ion from wastewater and this is in agreement with the results on literature [19].



sample 1(1)_pt1



Figure 3.30: EDS spectrum of the activated carbon after adsorption of Hg(II) by chemical activated carbon.

Results obtained from the EDS in Figure 3.30 present the elements that are commonly found in plant cells such P, S, C, O, Na, and Si. No adsorption of Hg can be observed. This is in agreement with the observation that has been already described that activated carbon from *Zea mays* stem is not a good or potential adsorbent to adsorb mercury from aqueous solution. Figure 3.31 shows the EDS spectrum of the *Zea mays* stem after the adsorption of Pb(II) from aqueous solution using. When compared with the results obtained from the activated carbon, there is a very slightly adsorption of Pb(II) ions when using *Zea mays* stem as adsorbent than when using activated carbon. The adsorption advantage of activated carbon over its precursor (*Zea mays* stem) can be attributed to the fact that activated carbon possess high carbon porosity and surface area. Keane [23] and Ozdemir *et al.* [24] also evaluated the performance of activated carbon for pharmaceutical adsorption and in the EDS spectrum of the activated carbon, they also observed the presence of elements such as S, O, C, Zr, and Ti[23 -24]. The amount of metal ions attached on the surface of the activated carbon as presented by the SEM images taken in this study, the presence of Pb(II), Cu(II), and Cr(III) ions in the activated carbon EDS spectra studied, and the vibrational peaks shifting observed in the IR spectra of the activated carbon after adsorption provide a full evidence that activated carbon material is far better than its precursor in terms of adsorbing metal ions from aqueous solution.



Figure 3.31: EDS results after biosorption of Pb(II) using Zea mays stem

The SEM and EDS results were consistent with the IR results and the texture and mineralogy of the adsorbent was determined using various number of techniques such as SEM, EDS, IR, and XRD.
X-ray powder Diffraction (XRD) patterns of the raw *Zea mays* stem and prepared activated carbon are shown Figure 3.32(a) The XRD patterns for *Zea mays* stem exhibit sharp peaks at $2\theta = 23.5^{\circ}$ which can be assigned to the crystalline portion of the cellulose and $2\theta = 16.2^{\circ}$ assigned to amorphous part of hemicellulose in the plant material. Similar sharp peaks at $2\theta = 22.5^{\circ}$ and $2\theta = 18.7^{\circ}$ which are mostly found in cellulosic materials were reported in literature [16, 19]. Figure 3.32(a) also shows the XRD patterns of the activated carbon after adsorption of metal ions from aqueous solution, with a very broad peak at $2\theta = 12.6^{\circ}$. Figure 3.32(b) shows the XRD pattern for prepared activated carbon before the adsorption of metal ions. As it was expected, the XRD patterns shows no peaks for the formation of carbonaceous crystalline material at $2\theta = 24$ - 26° and $2\theta = 42$ - 45° , although the sample was placed in the XRD crystallography for almost three days. The absence of these important peaks can be attributed to the presence of ion-exchangeable metals and elements such as C, K, Mg, Ca, S, P, O, and Cl which might affect the graphite crystalline peaks of the carbon materials.



Figure 3.32(a): XRD patterns of the Zea mays stem and activated carbon after adsorption



Figure 3.32(b): XRD pattern of the activated carbon before adsorption

3.7 References

- Debayan, D.; Ranjana, C.; Chiranjib, B. Bioremediation of heavy metals from industrial effluents. *M.Sc. Dissertation*, Department of Chemical Engineering, Jadaupur University, Jadaupur, Kolkata-700032, India, May 2012.
- Al-Qodah, Z.; Shawabkah, R. Production and characterization of granular activated carbon sludge. *Brazilian J. Chem. Eng.* 2009, 26, 127-136.
- Sivakumar, B.; Kannan, C.; Karthikeyan, S. Preparation and characterization of activated carbon prepared from *Balsamodendan caudatum* wood waste through various activation processes. *RAUSAYAM J. Chem.* 2012, *5*, 321-327.
- 4. Yusufu, M. I.; Ariahu, C.; Igbadul, B. D. Production and characterization of activated carbon from selected local raw materials. *Afri J. Pure Appl. Chem.* **2012**, *6*, 123-131.
- Jambulingam, M.; Kartikeyana, S.; Sivakumar, P.; Kiruthika, J.; Maiyalagan, T. characteristic studies of some activated carbons from agricultural wates. *J. Sci. Ind. Res.* 2009, *66*, 495-500.
- Subraman, T.; Revathi, P. K.; Production of activated carbon from agricultural raw wastes. IOSR *J. Eng.* 2015, 05, 54-63
- Madu, P. C.; Lajide. L. Physicochemical characteristics of activated charcoal derived from melon seed husk. *J. Chem. Pharm. Res.* 2013, 5, 94-98.
- 8. Yang, T.; Lua, A. characteristics of activated carbons prepared from pistachio-nut shells by physical activation. *J. Colloid Interface. Sci.* **2008**, *267*, 408-417.
- Puzzy, A. M.; Poddubnaya, O.I.; Matines-Alonso, A.; Suarez-Garcia, F.; Tascon, J. M. D. characterization of synthetic carbon activated with phosphoric acid. *Appl. Surface Sci.* 2002, 200, 196-202.
- 10. Solum, M. S.; Pugmire, R. J.; Jagtogen , M.; Derbyshire, F. Evaluation of carbon structure in chemically activated wood carbon. *Article*. **1995**, *33*, 1247-1257.

- 11. Yakout, S.M.; Sharaf-EL-Deen, G. Characterization of activated carbon prepared by phosphoric acid activation of olive stones. *Arabian. J. Chem.* **2011**, *12*, 9-14.
- Sugumaran, P.; Susan, V.P.; Ravichndran, P.; Seshadri, S. Production and characterization of activated carbon from banana empty fruit bunch and *Delonix regia* fruit pod. *J. Suist. Energ. Environ.* 2012, *3*, 125-132.
- 13. Ketcha, J. M.; Dina, D. J. D.; Ngomo, H. M.; Ndi, N. J. Preparation and characterization of activated carbons obtained from maize cobs by zinc chloride activation. *American Chem. Sci. J.* **2012**, *2*, 136-160.
- 14. Musapatika, E.T. Use of low cost adsorbents to treat industrial wastewater. *Dissertation*, *M.sc*, *Eng*. University of the Witwatersrand. **2010**.
- Hesas, R. H.; Niya, A. A.; Daud, W. A.; Sahu, J. N. Preparation and characterization of activated carbon from apple waste by phosphoric acid activation. *Bio. Resour. Technol.* 2013, *8*, 2950-2966.
- Pradhan, S. Production and characterization of activated carbon produced from suitable industrial sludge. *B. Sc. Project.* National Institute of Technology, Rourkela.
 2011.
- Langmuir, I. J. The adsorption of gases on plane surfaces of glass mica and platinum. *Chem. Soc.* 1918, 40, 361-1403
- 18. Freundlich, H. Z. Colloid and capillary chemistry. Physik. Chem. 1907, 57, 388-470.
- Zvinowanda, C. M. The utilization of maize tassel as an adsorbent for the removal of heavy metals from aqueous solutions. Ph.D. *Thesis, Technol*, Tshwane University of Technology. 2009.
- 20. Cardenas, G.; Miranda, S. P. FT-IR and TGA studies of chistosan composite films. *J. Chilean Chem. Soc.* **2004**, *49*, 291-295.

- 21. Kibomi, D.; Pongenr, C.; Rao, K. S.; Sinha, D. Preparation and characterization of activated carbon from *Fagopyrum esculeuntum* Moench by nitric and phosphoric acids chemical activation. *Pelagia Res. Lib.* **2014**, *5*, 46-55.
- 22. Won-Chun Oh.; Weon-Bae, K. Physical properties of activated carbon and its removal efficiencies for chemical factors. *J. Ind. Eng. Chem.* **2006**, *12*, 373-379.
- 23. Keane, D. Evaluation of the performance of activated carbon and titanium dioxide composites for pharmaceutical adsorption and photocatalysis in water. *Ph.D. Thesis.* Dublin City University. 2010.
- Ozdemir, I.; Sahin, M.; Orhan, R.; Erdem, M. Preparation and characterization of activated carbon from grape stalk by zinc chloride activation. *Fuel Proc. Technol*, 2014, 125, 200-206.
- 25. Chauhan, G. S.; Jaswal, S. C.; Verman, M. Post Functionalization of carboxymethyleted starch and acrylonitrile based networks through amidoximation for use as ion sorbents. *Carbohydate Polymers*. **2006**, *66*, 435-443.
- 26. Kula, I.; Ugurlu, M.; Karaoglu, H.; Celik, A. Adsorption of Cd(II) ions from aqueous solutions using activated carbon prepared from olive stones by zinc chloride activation. *Bio. Res. Technol.* 2008, *99*, 492-501.
- 27. Kin, J.; Sohn, H. M.; Kim, D. S.; Kwon, Y. S. Production of granular activated carbon from waste walnut shell and its adsorption characteristics for Cu(II) ion. *J. Hazard. Mat.* 2001, 85, 301-325.
- Monanty, K.; Jha, M.; Meikap, B. C.; Biswas, M. N. Removal of chromium(VI) from dilute aqueous solutions by activated carbon developed from *Terminalla Arjuna* nuts activated with zinc chloride. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* 2005, *60*, 30-49.
- Igwe, J.C.; Abia, A.A. Sorption and intraparticulate diffusivities of Cd, Pb, Zn ions on maize cob. *Afri. J. Biotech.* 2005, *4*, 509-512.

- 30. Mittal, A.; Kurup, L.; Mittal, J. Freundlich and Langmuir adsorption isotherms and kinetic studies for the removal of Tartrazine from aqueous solutions using hen feathers. J. Hazard. Mater. 2007, 146, 243-248.
- Adesola, B.; Oyedamiji, J.B.; Olalekan, S.S. Isotherm and thermodynamic studies of the biosorption of Cd(II) from solution by maize leaf. *Int. J. Phys. Sci.* 2009, *2*, 207-211.
- Namasivagam, C.; Senthilkumar, S. Removal of arsenic(V) from aqueous solution using industrial solid waste: Adsorption rates and equilibrium studies. *Ind. Eng. Chem.* 1998, 37, 4816-4822.
- 33. Ngah, W.S.; Liang, K.H. adsorption of Au(III) ions onto chitosan and N-carboxymethyl chitosan: Equilibrium studies. *Ind. Eng. Chem.* **1999**, *38*. 1411-1414.
- Gupta, S.; Babu, B.V. Removal of toxic metal Cr(VI) from aqueous solutions using sawdust as adsorbent: Equilibrium, kinetics and regeneration studies. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2009, 150, 352-365.
- 35. Martin, M. J., Artola, A., Balaguer, M. D.; Rigola, M. Activated carbons developed from surplus sewage sludge for the removal of dyes from dilute aqueous solutions. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2003, 94, 231–239.
- Moreon-Pirajan, J.C.; Giraldo, L. Heavy metal ions adsorption from wastewater using activated carbon from Orange peel. *E-J. Chem.* 2012, *9*, 926-937.
- Aqeel, M.A.; Mahmood, K.; Wajid, A. Study of low cost biosorbent for biosorption of heavy metals. *Int. Conf. F. Eng. Biotechnol.* 2011, 9, 60-68.

CHAPTER FOUR

4. SUMMARY, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER STUDIES

4.1 Summary of results

This work investigated the use of *Zea mays* stem and its activated carbon prepared through chemical activation in adsorbing metal ions from aqueous solution. The adsorption abilities of both adsorbents were carefully studied and compared. Four different activated carbons were prepared from *Zea mays* stem using NaOH, H₃PO₄, H₂SO₄, and KOH. The maximum removal percentages that were obtained for all the three metal ions at pH 5-6 were 97.44% for Pb(II), 98.37% for Cu(II), 89.37% for Cr(III) and there was no adsorption for mercury ions. Pb(II) and Cr(III) also showed a well-defined adsorption even at low pH, with 98.13% and 69.92% adsorption respectively. From the results obtained, it is evident that activated carbon prepared from *Zea mays* stem using sulphuric acid via chemical activation method is a good adsorbent for removal of Pb(II), Cu(II), and Cr(III) from aqueous solution.

Results obtained from adsorption experiments indicated that activated carbon from *Zea mays* stem is not good enough for the removal of Hg(II) and it was clear that the adsorption of Pb(II), Cu(II), Cr(III) ions is pH, contact time, and concentration dependent. The optimal conditions for all metal ions removal were pH = 5-6, 2 hours of contact time, 2 g of adsorbent, 110 rmp, and initial concentration of 200 ppm. Although Pb(II) and Cr(III) reached equilibrium adsorptions at 30 minutes and 60 minutes of contact time, when compared with the untreated *Zea mays* material, the activated carbon have high surface area and pore volumes with better adsorption capacity. The metal ions adsorption trend was in this order: Pb(II)>Cu(II)>Cr(III)>>Hg(II) and the adsorptive abilities of the activated carbons

prepared from sulphuric acid and potassium hydroxide were significantly higher. This is confirmed by the results obtained from the iodine number and adsorption percentages calculated from the experiments.

The pH of the solution still remains the most contributing factor on the adsorption of metal ions. It is believed that at low pH levels, the rivalry between hydrogen proton (H⁺) in the solution and the dissolved metal ions for proton acceptor or ligands such as carbonyl, hydroxyl, aromatics, and carboxyl on the surface of the activated carbon turn out to be the most significant factor and it hinders the removal on metal ions. Two mechanisms were proposed for the adsorption of metal ions in this study viz. (i) The metal ion-adsorbent *complex model* due to the chemical interactions between the surface ligands mentioned above and metal cations dissolved. (ii) The metal ion - ion-exchange adsorbent complex model which is due to the presence of ion-exchangeable elements (Ca, Mg, K, Na, C, and S) on the surface of some activated carbon. The presence of these elements was confirmed from the EDS spectrum. Electrostatic forces and Van der Waals forces are also believed to be the driving forces for the latter mechanisms in this research as the ionic compound were intermingling with oppositely charged adsorbent surface (dipole interaction). The Langmuir model fitted well in most of the cases with $\mathbb{R}^{2} > 0.99$. Consequently, the adsorption of Pb(II) and Cu(II) followed Langmuir isotherm model and that of Cr(III) was best defined by Freundlich isotherm model.

4.2 Conclusion

The adsorptive abilities of *Zea mays* stem and its activated carbon were investigated in this study. It was observed that different activated carbons adsorbed metal ions at various optimal conditions. Pb(II), Cr(III), and Cu(II) were easily adsorbed by the activated carbon and showed good adsorption capacity. The adsorption of Pb(II), Cr(III), and Cu(II) by raw *Zea mays* stem was significantly less than that of activated carbon. It is therefore concluded that adsorption of metal ions by chemically prepared activated carbon is far better than that of its precursor. Possible adsorption sites were investigated and found to be in two categories: Ligands such as OH^- , CO_3^{2-} , SO_4^{2-} , CI^- , S^{2-} that were found in the activated carbons surface area and ion-exchangeable elements K, Na, Ca which are believed to be exchangeable sites for metal ions. Langmuir and Freundlich models both defined the adsorption of the three metal ions, where Langmuir model fitted well for adsorption of both the Pb(II) and Cu(II) ion.

4.3 Recommendations for further studies

Although much work has already been done on the processes and mechanisms involved in the removal of metal ions using biomaterials and modified agricultural by-products, but there is still a need for the understanding of the following aspects of the adsorption processes using these materials.

- The effect of the chemical activation method and activating agent on the adsorptive performance of the prepared activated carbon, particularly from *Zea mays* stem.
- Thorough investigation on the linearity of the pseudo-first-order and pseudo-secondorder models on the adsorption process of each metal ion.

- Extensive investigation of the kinetic isotherms for the adsorption of each metal ion by activated carbon.
- Since diffusion is one of the most important principle involved in the adsorption process, there is a need to understand which of the three phases of diffusion drive the mechanism of adsorption.